Contents lists available at ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/earscirev

Human influence and the changing geomorphology of Mediterranean deltas and coasts over the last 6000 years: From progradation to destruction phase?

Edward J. Anthony^{a,*}, Nick Marriner^b, Christophe Morhange^a

^a Aix Marseille Université, Institut Universitaire de France, CEREGE, UMR 34, Europôle Méditerranéen de l'Arbois, B.P. 80, 13545 Aix en Provence Cedex, France ^b CNRS, Laboratoire Chrono-Environnement UMR 6249, Université de Franche-Comté, UFR ST, 16 route de Gray, 25030 Besançon, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 November 2013 Accepted 13 October 2014 Available online 30 October 2014

Keywords: Mediterranean basin Mediterranean river Mediterranean delta Mediterranean coast Human–environment interaction Holocene Mediterranean environmental change

ABSTRACT

The present geomorphology of the Mediterranean's coasts is largely a product of an intricate long-term relationship between Nature and human societies. A cradle of ancient civilisations, the Mediterranean has seen its shores occupied by Humans since Prehistory, and is, therefore, a particularly pertinent unit of analysis. The morphotectonic context and other forcing agents (e.g., climate) shaped out a highly diversified coastal morphology and generated a sediment-supply regime potentially favourable to the formation of numerous open-coast deltas and bay-head deltas in infilled rias as sea level stabilised during the mid-Holocene. This supply of riverine sediment has also been the key agent in mediating human occupation of the Mediterranean's clastic coasts. Expressions of this relationship have been extensively archived in clastic coastal deposits, including base-level deltaic and estuarine sedimentary sinks, which comprise records to explore the interactions between geosystems and the human environment. The stratigraphic sequences in these coastal sedimentary archives comprise, in many places, a clearly identified anthropogenic signature, notably in ancient harbours, some of which underwent extremely rapid silting up due to massive sediment sourcing generated by new agricultural practices from the Neolithic onwards. Increasing human influence, especially over the last 3000 years, has been, in turn, an important driver of changes in sediment supply, strongly modulating deltaic development. Pulses of sediment supply from catchments rendered vulnerable by human perturbations during the Roman period resulted in a new cycle of inception of many other deltas and in rapid delta growth (e.g. the Ebro, the Po, the Arno and the Ombrone). Another progradation dynamic during the Little Ice Age, at a time of strong rural population growth, river discharge increases, technological developments, and urbanisation, further consolidated delta growth. Understanding the life cycle of these deltas since their initial formation is, in turn, key to unravelling the relative role of natural and anthropogenic forcing agents. Rapid climate changes are deemed to have contributed through both the stripping of landscapes rendered fragile by human activities and active fluvial sediment transport to the coast, but disentangling climate change effects from human impacts in the Mediterranean remains a challenge. The patterns of subsequent deltaic growth and delta morphodynamics reflect adaptations to pulsed sediment supply, river discharge variations, the microtidal, fetch-limited context of the Mediterranean, and direct engineering interventions. The progradation dynamic of the Roman period and Little Ice Age contrasts markedly with the situation of common coastal destabilisation over the last two centuries, particularly well documented for the last 50 years. This period has been characterised by reduced sediment flux to base-level geosystems due to catchment reforestation, retenion within reservoirs, fluvial regulation and dredging, resulting in the erosion of deltas and barrier-lagoon and beach-dune systems. Large stretches of shoreline and narrow coastal plains have been massively engineered for coastal defence and protection against erosion, but also for the construction of marinas, leisure harbours and artificial beaches, resulting in the emergence of veritable artificial seafronts. These interventions have, collectively and progressively, raised societies to a pervasive and overarching position in the geomorphic stability-instability of the Mediterranean's coasts, a situation that will be exacerbated by pressures from sea-level rise, paving the way for rampant coastal erosion and delta destruction.

© 2014 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	337
2.	Setting and characteristics	337

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: anthony@cerege.fr (E.J. Anthony).

3.	Mediterranean coasts and river deltas	339
4.	Ancient harbours, palaeo-coastal engineering, and the anthropogenic signature	341
5.	Morphogenesis and evolution of non-deltaic coastal barriers	342
6.	Early morphogenesis of river deltas and human impacts	343
7.	Classical civilisations and the waxing and waning of river deltas	346
8.	The impacts of anthropogenic changes in river catchments on coasts and deltas since ca. 1800 AD	347
9.	Delta morphodynamic changes over time and the human impact	352
10.	Large-scale anthropogenic destabilisation of non-deltaic coasts	355
11.	Discussion: disentangling the human influence from that of climate change	355
12.	Conclusions and perspectives: the future of the Mediterranean's coasts and deltas	357
Ackn	owledgements	358
Refer	ences	358

1. Introduction

The subject of the influence of past and present societies on the geomorphology of the coasts of the Mediterranean is very large, and is embedded in fundamental changes in the relationship between natural processes and human activities that have occurred over the course of the Holocene period (van Andel, 1989), marked by the transition from a strongly nature-dominated to an increasingly human-dominated environment (Marsh, 1864; Desjardins, 1876; Sherlock, 1922; Churchill Semple, 1932; Delano-Smith, 1979; Horden and Purcell, 2000; Berger and Guilaine, 2009; Walsh, 2013). The Mediterranean, therefore, stands out as one of the most pertinent geographical zones to look at the nature and trajectories of these interactions. One of the cradles of ancient civilisations, the Mediterranean has seen its shores occupied by societies since Prehistoric times, and the geomorphology of large sectors of the Mediterranean's coasts is a heritage of this relationship between Nature and Humans. Expressions of this relationship are diverse and affect both the bold rocky coasts and low-lying depositional coasts of the Mediterranean. The effects are most clearly evident, however, and increasingly more pervasive, on the latter coasts, especially those formed by river deltas, which have sequestered rich sedimentary archives to probe Holocene change and human impacts.

The aim of this paper is to present a review of the geomorphic human imprint on the coasts of the Mediterranean at different spatial and temporal timescales within the time frame of the Holocene. The evolution of non-deltaic coastal barriers and of many Mediterranean deltas and their adjacent downdrift coastal sectors has been reconstructed using multiproxy analyses of core data, palaeogeographical or geomorphological reconstructions, and coastal archaeology, providing material for the review. This review comes at a time when human impacts are leading to increasing coastal instability, providing a potential framework for exacerbating the effects of climate-induced change and sea-level rise. The overview provided here is both a daunting and necessarily incomplete task, given: (1) the long and complex relationship between the Mediterranean's coasts and societies, (2) the vast range of human interventions, both directly on the coast, and indirectly via modifications of river catchments that supply sediment, and therefore condition, the stability of depositional coasts, (3) the difficulty of disentangling human influence from the effects of commonly rapid changes in climate and vegetation dynamics, (4) the sometimes fragmentary and time-transgressive nature of many large deltaic sediment records, and (5) the overarching geographical and geomorphological diversity of the Mediterranean's clastic coasts. Salient elements of this relationship and the way human societies have profoundly modified the Mediterranean's coasts are highlighted through focus on clastic non-deltaic barriers and river deltas and their associated deposits. These coastal morphosedimentary archives record the temporal progression of human impacts, starting from dispersed coastal strongholds, related mainly to ancient harbours and maritime commerce, through larger-scale indirect impacts on the hinterlands that back the waterfront, and onto the modern era of direct significant anthropogenic transformations of the coast. It must be stated at the outset that direct quantification of the balance between human impacts and natural changes affecting the background environment and the coasts of the Mediterranean is not feasible. However, quantifying river discharge variation and changes to coastal sediment budgets provides an indirect measure of the importance of human activity over the last 200 years.

Following the introduction (Section 1), Section 2 briefly describes the setting and characteristics of the Mediterranean. Section 3 provides an overview of the coasts and deltas of the Mediterranean, including the recently emerged trend of massively engineered and artificial shores. Section 4 deals with ancient harbours and coastal palaeo-engineering works, several of which provide a distinct record of sedimentation reflecting a growing anthropogenic signature. Section 5 briefly describes the morphogenesis of non-deltaic coastal barriers for which identified anthropogenic signatures are lacking. Section 6 concerns an appraisal of the morphogenesis and morphodynamics of Mediterranean deltas hinged on the classic relationship between these deposits and relative sea-level stabilisation, as initially postulated by Stanley and Warne (1994), whereas Section 7 considers Mediterranean river delta inception in terms of the postulate of these deposits being largely man-made constructs generated by land-use changes related to the flourishing of classical civilisations, as initially proposed for deltas in Tuscany, Italy (e.g. Marinelli, 1926 in Pranzini, 1989; Fabbri, 1985; Innocenti and Pranzini, 1993) and in Spain (Vita-Finzi, 1975; Guillén and Palanques, 1997). Sections 8 and 9 focus, respectively, on the massive modifications of river catchments over the last two centuries (Section 8) and direct human interventions on the Mediterranean's coasts that are strongly reflected in the current fragile status of large stretches of the depositional non-deltaic barriers (Section 9). Section 10 provides an overview of delta morphodynamic changes associated with variations in sediment supply and direct and indirect human interventions on river catchments and river mouths. Following these sections, Section 11 discusses the difficulty of disentangling human impacts and changes in the geomorphic functioning of the Mediterranean's coasts from those of rapid climate changes in the course of the Holocene, debouching on a synthesis that warns against a simplistic view of Mediterranean river deltas as human constructs. Section 12 proposes conclusions and perspectives on the future of the Mediterranean's deltas and coasts, against a background of destabilisation by Humans under the overarching framework of sealevel rise and climate change. The review shows a strong imbalance in favour of the literature published since 2000. Much of the post-2000 literature provides more updated and comprehensive coverage of coastal geomorphic changes documented in many pre-2000 publications, especially given the greater attention being paid to deltas in the current circumstances of increasing delta vulnerability (Ericson et al., 2006; Syvitski et al., 2009; Anthony, 2014a). Much of the literature reviewed also reflects the increasing impacts of human activities inventoried over the last 15 years or so.

2. Setting and characteristics

The Mediterranean has been subjected to an array of interconnected, yet discrete, orogens that have been traditionally considered collectively as the result of an "Alpine" orogeny, but that are, instead, the result of diverse tectonic events spanning some 250 Ma, from the Triassic to the Quaternary (Cavazza and Wezel, 2003). The Mediterranean zone thus forms a present-day geodynamic analogue for the final stages of a continent–continent collisional orogeny. This has involved a complex suite of events dominated by subduction and partial obduction of the Eurasian and African–Arabian plates, except for the Ionian basin and the southeastern Mediterranean, and the formation of new oceanic domains. The resulting crustal context is characterised by active and passive margins and by isostasy and tectonics that have imprinted marked variations in relief (Fig. 1), and in present-day tectonics and coastal geomorphic diversity.

Regarding the recent tectonics of the Mediterranean's coasts, the Marine Isotope Substage (MIS) 5.5 highstand (~125 Ka) has been used by Ferranti et al. (2006) to draw a picture of vertical displacements affecting coasts of the Central Mediterranean since the Late Pleistocene. Stewart and Morhange (2009) concluded that the general tendency for MIS 5.5 marine terraces to lie within a few metres of present-day sea level was an indication of general long-term land stability throughout most of the circum-Mediterranean region, notwithstanding the complex geodynamic history. Marked variability in terrace elevation has been a result of local (basin-bounding) rather than regional tectonics (e.g. Ferranti et al., 2006), an aspect that also comes out in Holocene and modern tide-gauge records from the Mediterranean (Emery et al., 1988; Flemming, 1993; Pirazzoli, 2005). The sea-level data from these studies suggest that most of the Mediterranean coast is submergent, albeit at generally low rates (<1.2 mm/yr, Emery et al., 1988). Zones of little or no sea-level change correspond to the coastal tracts between Gibraltar and Genoa in the west and along southern Turkey in the east, whereas mobile coasts are mostly on or immediately inboard of the Hellenic and Calabrian arc areas of the Central northern Mediterranean (e.g. Vött, 2007; Pavlopoulos et al., 2012), which are zones of high earthquake activity (e.g. Pirazzoli et al., 1996; Stewart et al., 1997; Shaw et al., 2008) and/or active volcanism (e.g. Dvorak and Mastrolorenzo, 1991; Firth et al., 1996; Stiros, 2000; Morhange et al., 2006). This gives an overall image of considerable variation in the amount and sense of vertical coastal movements along the Mediterranean's coasts (Stewart and Morhange, 2009; Brückner et al., 2010).

The Mediterranean drainage basin comprises more than 160 rivers with a catchment area >200 km². Only six of these are larger than 50,000 km² (Table 1), an observation that brings out the abundance and importance of small rivers in supplying sediment to the coast (Poulos and Collins, 2002). Dedkov and Mozzherin (1992) concluded from data on rates of catchment disturbance and erosion across the world that Mediterranean mountain streams are among those with the highest anthropogenic contribution of any climatic zone. Together with the Alpine mountainous catchments, the Mediterranean zone shows the highest catchment sediment yields in Europe (Vanmaercke et al., 2011). Small Mediterranean rivers with catchments of 1000–10,000 km² show relatively high sediment yields with regards to annual runoff that are comparable to similar-sized rivers from tectonically active margins (Fig. 2) in western North America, Japan, Taiwan, Indonesia, the Philippines and New Zealand (Milliman and Farnsworth, 2011). Notwithstanding, river discharge is highly variable both spatially and temporally as a result of climatic disparities within and across catchments, and this variability has been diversely exacerbated by human transformations of Mediterranean fluvial systems especially over the last 200 years (Poulos and Collins, 2002; Milliman and Farnsworth, 2011). This marked spatial and temporal variability of Mediterranean fluvial regimes also creates problems for measurement, monitoring and assessment of effects (Hooke, 2006). It also renders difficult the distinction of human impacts in river sediment supply from those of background climate and vegetation changes. The discharge regime shows marked seasonality, dominated by winterspring high flow conditions and low flow in summer-autumn, but



Fig. 1. Digital terrain model of the Mediterranean showing major, simplified geological structures. White thrust symbols indicate the outer deformation front along the Ionian and Eastern Mediterraean subduction fronts. AB: Algerian basin; AS: Alboran Sea; AdS: Adriatic Sea; AeS: Aegean Sea; BS: Black Sea; C: Calabria-Peloritani terrane; CCR: Catalan Coast Range; Cr: Crimea; Ct: Crete; Cy: Cyprus; EEP: East European Platform; HP: High Plateaux; KM: Kirsehir Massif; IC: Iberian Chain; IL: Insubric line; IS: Ionian Sea; LS: Levant Sea; LiS: Libyan Sea; MA: Middle Atlas; MM: Moroccan Meseta; MP: Moesian Platform; PB: Provençal Basin; PaB: Pannonian Basin; PS: Pelagian Shelf; RM: Rhodope Massif; S: Sicilian Maghrebides; SP: Saharan Platform; TA: Tunisian Atlas; TS: Tyrrhenian Sea; VT: Valencia Trough. From Cavazza and Wezel, 2003.

 Table 1

 Basin area, length and delta area of a selection of Mediterranean rivers.

River	Country	Basin area (km²)	River length (km)	Delta area (km²)	Ratio of delta to basin area	
Nile	Egypt	2.900.000	6825	12.512 ^a	0.004	
Rhône	France	96.000	812	1740 ^a	0.018	
Ро	Italy	74,000	382	13,398 ^a	0.181	
Ebro	Spain	87,000	928	624 ^a	0.007	
Moulouya	Morocco	54,500	600	30 ^b	0.0005	
Evros	Greece	53,500	480	180 ^b	0.003	
Buyukmenderes	Turkey	25,000	548	276 ^b	0.011	
Axios	Greece	23,750	380	220 ^b	0.009	
Seyhan	Turkey	21,000	560	900 ^b	0.042	
Drini	Albania	19,600	160	250 ^b	0.012	
Tiber	Italy	17,000	405	80 ^b	0.004	
Neretva	Croatia	10,380	230	120 ^b	0.011	
Acheloos	Greece	6395	217	300 ^b	0.046	
Llobregat	Spain	5045	163	80 ^c	0.015	
Ombrone	Italy	3500	161	70 ^b	0.02	
Guadalhorce	Spain	3180	154	5 ^d	0.001	
Ter	Spain	2990	212	8.5 ^c	0.002	
Var	France	2800	135	8 ^b	0.002	
Andarax	Spain	2160	74	9.5 ^d	0.004	
Guadiaro	Spain	1490	101	5.8 ^d	0.003	
Guadalfeo	Spain	1312	72	8.6 ^d	0.006	
Besos	Spain	1030	52	8.3 ^c	0.008	
Fluvia	Spain	1008	104	19.4 ^c	0.019	

^a From Coleman and Huh (2004).

^b This study.

^c From Liquete et al. (2005).

^d From Liquete et al. (2009).

variability can be high at timescales ranging from intraseasonal to multi-annual. Conditions are much more arid in the southern and eastern flanks (Poulos and Collins, 2002; Milliman and Farnsworth, 2011), which also display coasts of lower elevation, and where pulses of fluvial sediment supply to the coast evince consistent irregularity at seasonal to decadal timescales. The geographical difference is manifested by the limited development of large rivers in the latter sector, with the no-table exception of the Nile, and by the common occurrence of episodically functional wadis, compared to a much higher density of rivers in the more humid former sector. Such differences in fluvial sediment supply, have, together with climate variations, contributed to the coastal diversity imprinted by the complex morphotectonic context.



Fig. 2. Sediment yields of small Mediterranean rivers with catchments of 1000–10,000 km² compared to those of similar-sized rivers from tectonically active margins but with larger runoff.

From Milliman and Farnsworth (2011).

Apart from the eastern seaboard of Tunisia and the Adriatic Sea, the Mediterranean continental shelf is relatively narrow (a few km to about 50 km), resulting in weak tidal amplification and in a microtidal regime (mean spring tidal range of 0.5 to 1 m). Along the steep Alpine margins of the Western Mediterranean, the shelf is dissected in many areas by deep fossil canyons inherited from the Messinian Salinity Crisis (Clauzon et al., 1996; Bachea et al., 2009). The wave climate is dominated by short-fetch wind waves (periods of 4-6 s) with very variable directions depending on location, sometimes intermixed with longer waves (8-9 s) where fetch conditions are favourable. The intricate shoreline of the Mediterranean and these relatively fetch-limited wave conditions result in a potentially large directional apportionment of the wave energy, a factor liable to favour sequestering of fluvial sediment in the vicinity of river mouths and therefore favouring delta construction. Storms can attain, however, extreme intensities (Lionello et al., 2006; Dezileau et al., 2011; Shah-Hosseini et al., 2013), despite the limited fetch context. Destructive historical and pre-historical tsunamis have been reported (e.g. Shaw et al., 2008).

3. Mediterranean coasts and river deltas

The total length of the Mediterranean coastline, including the numerous islands, is about 46,000 km (Poulos and Collins, 2002; Stewart and Morhange, 2009). Less than half (46%) consists of depositional shores, the rest comprising rocky coasts that commonly exhibit cliffs cut into a variety of lithologic terranes, notably carbonate formations. Bold, rocky coasts in the Mediterranean have become increasingly occupied by settlements, especially in the modern era of world tourism, but their morphology has remained relatively intact, in contrast to lowelevation clastic coasts, the sediment dynamics and budgets of which have been strongly affected by human interventions, especially where climatic and other environmental conditions have been favourable to massive urbanisation.

The clastic coasts of the Mediterranean comprise sand, and locally, gravel barriers that either fringe consolidated rock formations or bound lagoons. Barrier-lagoon systems are also common to the numerous river delta systems that have developed in the strongly waveinfluenced microtidal Mediterranean context. Non-deltaic barrier systems are generally bay barriers of various lengths (10 to >100 km) between bedrock headlands or between river mouths that have not developed into deltas. Examples include the Gulf of Lions coast in France, and much of the semi-arid to arid southern and southeastern Mediterranean seaboard. The functional linkage involving alongshore sediment transfers from deltas and estuaries to distant coastal barriers is particularly pertinent in the Mediterranean where many such barriers are remotely sourced in sand by rivers. The Mediterranean seaboard being relatively steep, the propensity for its coasts to benefit from sediment supply from the nearshore shelf is limited, in contrast to many oceanic coasts facing broad continental shelves (Anthony, 2009). As a result, alongshore supply of riverine sediment has been fundamental to the geomorphic development of these open-coast barrier systems where coastal morphology and wave fetch conditions favour unimpeded longshore drift. Barrier development in these cases has generally been sourced by rivers episodically subject to floods strong enough to flush sediments to the nearshore zone, forming a sedimentary reservoir for wave-induced alongshore supply to adjacent beaches. Some of the river mouths associated with these barrier systems may be diverted hundreds of metres alongshore by longshore currents, and even blocked during periods of low river discharge, and many are ephemeral (e.g., Lichter et al., 2010). Along the relatively arid southern and eastern shores of the Mediterranean, aeolian activity has commonly generated dune systems. These dune systems are rather poorly developed on the western shores of the Mediterranean.

In addition to these open-coast barriers, the Mediterranean comprises a plethora of more or less deeply embayed shores of all lengths (<10 m to 10 km) locked between bedrock headlands. These variably indented embayments are associated with dominantly rocky shores and are rimmed by rocky bluffs and/or sandy/gravelly pocket beaches or barriers. These embayments commonly have limited accommodation space for sediments and limited sediment supply but some are sourced by episodic inputs from ephemeral streams, especially on high-relief coasts (Pranzini et al., 2013) in the Western Mediterranean. Pocket beaches and barriers generally show little or no progradation, as a result of this limited sediment supply, although exceptions exist, as in the case of the prograded beach-ridge complex of the Gulf of Almería, in Andalusia, sourced by gravel supplied through longshore drift from both the nearby Adra river delta and eroding cliffs cut into last interglacial marine terraces (Goy et al., 2003). Other embayments formed rias in which fluvio-deltaic progradation has occurred since sea level stabilised in the mid-Holocene, such as the bay-head deltas of Ionia in present-day western Turkey (Brückner, 1997; Brückner et al., 2002). Offshore islands and, in some cases, submerged sand banks formed in zones of longshore drift convergence have also favoured the development of dispersed spits and tombolos (e.g. Marriner et al., 2012a).

High fluvial sediment supplies, sand- and gravel-rich bedload and locally impeded longshore drift between bedrock headlands have favoured an abundance of infilled bay-head deltas in rias and opencoast deltas (Fig. 3), especially in the Central and Western Mediterranean. Mediterranean river deltas range from protruberances of a few km² in area associated with small catchments (tens to hundreds of km²) to major subaerial delta plains associated with the larger rivers, the most important of which are those of the Po, the Nile, the Ebro and the Rhône (Table 1). Small deltas are particularly abundant on the steep, and relatively bare mountain ranges bordering the Mediterranean coast of Spain (Liquete et al., 2005, 2009). On the 400 km coast of Andalusia in southeastern Spain, Liquete et al. (2005) identified no less than 26 rivers ranging in basin size from 3120 km² (the Guadalhorce) to 3.8 km² (the Dos Hermanas), all with deltas. Ratios of delta area to river basin area vary widely, however, as a function of geological setting and inheritance, climate, exposure to waves, and human influence. The Po subaerial delta, which has an area of about the same size as that of the Nile, stands out with an exceptionally high ratio, fed by a large supply of sediment from its steep Alpine setting, and located in an area that excludes strong wave export of sediment (Table 1).

Significant deltas (apart from the Nile) have not developed on the relatively dry to arid southern margins of the Mediterranean, even with rivers having relatively large catchments such as the Cheliff in Algeria (35,000 km²) and the Medjerda in Tunisia (22,000 km²). However, the Mediterranean coast of Morocco is studded with small deltas at the mouths of sediment-charged steep-gradient wadis that drain the Atlas Mountains. Here and elsewhere, fluvial sediment supplied by flash floods has been redistributed alongshore to source the growth of adjacent coastal barrier and lagoon systems. Many small rivers throughout the Mediterranean, commonly with drainage basins not exceeding 1000 km², lack deltas, as stated above, especially where they drain low-elevation terrain and debouch in long open bays subject to strong wave-generated longshore currents that sweep sediment to feed adjacent barriers.

Coastal engineering has generated, especially in the Western Mediterranean, entirely new shores, where the original shore type and morphology have been totally transformed by humans (Anthony, 1994; Di Pippo et al., 2008). Such 'artificial' shores are mainly associated with major commercial or industrial ports, and with various tourismrelated structures: leisure harbours, land reclamations, marinas, and artificial beaches, the construction of which took a significant upswing in the Mediterranean in the 1980s. Reclamation fill structures and marinas tend to combine residential and tourism facilities, but can also serve as transport infrastructure, as in the cases of the reclaimed Tiber and Var deltas, both of which host airports. Artificial shores generally blend entirely with urban fronts. Despite this modern context of increasing human modification of the coasts of the Mediterranean, rocky shores have been relatively well preserved, direct engineering intervention on these 'hard' shores being generally limited to short enclaves offering suitable locations for leisure harbour development or providing foundations for the construction of small artificial beaches. In some ways, the high costs of physically modifying rocky shores is a factor that fosters their preservation, but that has also contributed to bringing pressure to bear on the more accessible, depositional coasts (Anthony, 2014b). The breath-taking views offered by bold rocky coasts have contributed to the attractiveness of the Mediterranean, especially along the mountainous western margins, which are commonly untransformable. This has, in turn, increased the development pressures on the more accessible adjacent clastic coasts. Bold picturesque rocky shores are, however, becoming increasingly exposed, in turn, to pressures from housing and tourist infrastructure. Limited sectors of soft rocky shores have also been significantly affected by human intervention, as on the Apulian coast of southeast Italy (Andriani and Walsh, 2007).



Fig. 3. Rivers deltas of the Mediterranean mentioned in the text.

4. Ancient harbours, palaeo-coastal engineering, and the anthropogenic signature

Anthropogenic modification of sedimentary patterns and processes constitutes both adjustments to natural sedimentary environments (e.g. delta irrigation, coastal reclamation) and the creation of novel sedimentary environments articulated around man-made structures. Although the Mediterranean river delta, epitomised by the Nile, stands out as an iconic example of the long-standing relationship between Humans and the coast, this relationship started in sheltered fluvial, estuarine and low wave-energy coastal settings that served as sites for the establishment of settlements built on maritime trade. Leaving aside the potential influence of the Neolithic "Revolution" on the sediment budgets of drainage systems via new agricultural practices in the Mediterranean Basin (Guilaine, 1991; Foley et al., 2013), one significant manifestation of this long relationship between societies and the coast is recorded in the deposits of numerous ancient harbours throughout the Mediterranean (Fig. 4), the stratigraphic signatures of which have been the object of numerous studies (Reinhardt and Raban, 1999; Morhange et al., 2003; Marriner and Morhange, 2006; Stanley and Bernasconi, 2006; Marriner and Morhange, 2007; Marriner et al., 2008a,b; Goiran et al., 2010; Bony et al., 2011; Sarti et al., 2013; Seeliger et al., 2013; Stock et al., 2013; Goiran et al., 2014). These studies provide well-documented cases of shore processes, human impacts and coastal sedimentation in ancient times, highlighting a clear pattern of millennial anthropogenic forcing in the coastal stratigraphy. Work has demonstrated that different harbour technologies have well-defined chronostratigraphic parallels, beginning with the exploitation of semiprotected natural environments during the Bronze Age through to the completely artificial infrastructure of the Roman and Byzantine periods (e.g. Marriner et al., 2014). The stratigraphic sequences generated in these ancient harbours reflect the superposition of deposits that give rise to a distinct sedimentary suite. Ancient harbour facies are quintessentially lagoonal in terms of the sedimentary signatures and biological assemblages, marked by an artificial fining-up sequence, and comprise low energy silts and fauna typical of anthropogenically-favoured sedimentation in protected settings (Fig. 5). Marriner and Morhange (2007) and Marriner and Morhange (2006), Marriner et al. (2008a, 2008b) have documented the development of these ancient harbours in the Levant towards the end of the Late Bronze Age and the Early Iron Age, under the pressures of expanding trade (Marcus, 2002). Some of these ancient harbours were located in prograding rivermouth settings in protected embayments where incident wave energy was low as a result of significant refraction, diffraction and nearshore dissipation. Examples include Frejus (Forum Julii), at the mouth of the Argens River in southeastern France (Devillers et al., 2007: Bertoncello, 2010; Gébara and Morhange, 2010), and the mouth of the Mesorea/Gialias river system in Cyprus (Devillers, 2008). In such settings, rapid silting up has commonly led to harbour displacement, mirrored in a number of well-studied ria systems, including the text-book examples of Ionia's deltas (Brückner, 1997; Brückner et al., 2002; Seeliger et al., 2013; Stock et al., 2013). These changes reflect the effects of profound human modifications of river catchments throughout the Mediterranean (Bintliff, 2002; Butzer, 2005; Dusar et al., 2011).

The deposits archived in these harbours undoubtedly provide some of the most thoroughly documented cases of human influence on shore processes and coastal sedimentation in ancient times. On the basis of strongly converging data from chronostratigraphy, biological indicators, geomorphology and geoarchaeology, Marriner and Morhange (2006, 2007) have shown that the unique chronostratigraphic and biosedimentary similarities common to these ancient Mediterranean harbours have generated a human-modified parasequence which they defined in terms of a new working model (Fig. 6): the *Ancient Harbour Parasequence* (AHP), different from the Coastal Progradational Parasequence (CPP). The preservation of thick transgressive sequences in the semi-artificial depocentres of ancient Mediterranean harbours renders the AHP a rich geoarchaeological archive.

Although harbours generally took advantage of sheltered enclaves along the coast, notably embayments and quiescent river mouths, their implantation and development have not always been passive accompaniments of site geomorphic characteristics naturally advantageous to harbours. Many harbours developed in the lee of spits and tombolos that were subsequently engineered to ensure harbour protection. Marriner et al. (2008b) demonstrated that the tombolos of the ancient port cities of Tyre in Lebanon and Alexandria in Egypt are the heritage of a long history of natural morphodynamic forcing since



Fig. 4. Ancient harbours in the Mediterranean, grouped according to how they have been preserved in the geological record. From Marriner and Morhange (2007).



Fig. 5. Examples of stratigraphic successions in ancient Mediterranean harbours (see Fig. 4 for harbour locations.

8000 cal. BP and human intervention since Hellenistic times (Fig. 7). The tombolo at Tyre was a submerged sand bank, formed by longshore drift convergence, that was cleverly exploited in 332 BC by Alexander the Great's engineers, following a seven-month siege of the city, enabling their leader to seize the island fortress (Marriner et al., 2008b). The Tyre and Clazomenae causeways served as prototypes for Alexandria's Heptastadion, built a few months later by Alexander the Great (Goodman et al., 2009).

In another example from the Levantine coast, recent work on the Ras Ibn Hani peninsula (Syria) has elucidated a largely analogous morphosedimentary evolution and suggests that there is a great deal of predictability to tombolo geomorphology at the regional scale (Marriner et al., 2012a). Two broad periods can be identified in the formation of Levantine tombolos. During the first phase, between ~4000 and ~1000 cal. BC, the sediment records attest to low accretion, implying that tombolo development was relatively limited. Despite abundant accommodation space, this finding appears consistent with three factors: (1) rapidly exhausted shelf sediment supply following the end of the Holocene marine transgression; (2) low sediment inputs by local fluvial systems within the context of well-vegetated catchments; and (3) a partitioning of base-level sediment sinks, whereby sediment was preferentially sequestered in proximal depocentres (e.g., estuaries and deltas) during the mid-Holocene. This latter idea is widely supported by the Levant's archaeological record, which shows an abandonment of estuarine harbours and settlements during the late Bronze Age and their relocation at more distal coastal sites (Raban, 1990; Morhange et al., 2005). The situation appears to have changed, however, during the Late Bronze Age/Early Iron Age, with the switch from a 'neutral' to a positive sediment budget concurrent with a pulse in alluvium. Fronted by the island barriers, the combination of high terrigenous sediment yield and low-energy wave processes permitted the rapid accretion of the sand banks at both Tyre and Ras Ibn Hani. This rapid accretion pulse led to aggradation of the sublittoral sand banks on the leeward coasts and accentuated the efficiency of sediment trapping by positive feedback mechanisms involving the formation of two drift cells (Marriner et al., 2012a).

Goiran (2001) and Stanley and Bernasconi (2006) similarly identified in Alexandria's eastern harbour, the major port in the southeast Mediterranean, sediments comprising important hiatuses (time gaps) that record the episodic influence of storms, seismic tremors, and possible tsunamis, but also the influence of human activity after about 2400 years BP, following development of Alexandria by the Ptolomies and their successors, the Romans. These findings are mirrored in lead isotope analyses used to reconstruct the history of human-induced palaeo-pollution (Véron et al., 2006; Stanley et al., 2007; Véron et al., 2013). Researchers have attributed development of important mudrich deposits from about 2200 to 1800 years BP in part to construction of the Heptastadion, the large causeway and aqueduct system built to connect Alexandria with Pharos Island to the north. It has also been suggested that structures such as breakwaters have modified sedimentation patterns, blurring the distinction of deposits from natural processes from those of human-related activities (Millet and Goiran, 2007).

5. Morphogenesis and evolution of non-deltaic coastal barriers

Although the Mediterranean currently shows a relatively high density of river deltas, many of its barrier–lagoon systems are morphological expressions of sediment sourcing by river mouths that did not evolve

Ancient Harbour Parasequence



Prograding upper shoreface/foreshore (harbour abandonment)

Ancient harbour muds



Lower/middle shoreface sands

Anthour dredging



Fig. 6. Illustration of the impact of human palaeoengineering on coastal deposition in Mediterranean harbours and their vicinity, resulting in distinct lithofacies and key stratigraphic surfaces composing the Ancient Harbour Parasequence. From Marriner and Morhange (2006, 2007).

into deltas, probably as a result of moderate sediment supplies from small catchments of low elevation. In consequence, barrier systems associated with non-deltaic coasts have commonly showed moderate to no progradation. The patterns of development of these barriers remote from deltas are much less known than the strandplains and associated lagoonal systems of deltaic coasts. Although the morphosedimentary development of non-deltaic barriers may have been indirectly affected by human-generated fluctuations in river sediment supply, only a few sedimentary archives of these barrier systems have been probed, and direct anthropogenic influence on barrier sedimentation and morphology, as in the previously described cases of tombolos, for instance, has not been identified or reported. Some barriers have variably prograded as a function of the supply and alongshore redistribution of fluvial and cliff-derived sediment by waves, as on the Gulf of Almería coast (Goy et al., 2003), whereas others are narrow and have been dominantly 'stationary' (in the sense of Thom, 1984), as in the Gulf of Lyons, after having migrated to their current positions with the final phases of Holocene sea-level rise (Barusseau et al., 1996; Raynal et al., 2009). Goy et al. (2003) identified 6 strand-plain units dating back as far as 7400 BP for which they associated phases of beach-ridge progradation and interridge swale deposition with relative sea-level and sediment supply variations.

The narrow barrier systems of the Gulf of Lyons bound infilling lagoons and are devoid of tidal inlets as a result of the nearly tideless environment. Raynal et al. (2009) have estimated that one of these sandy barriers was established around 7500 cal. yr BP 1 km seaward from its present position, and according to Dezileau et al. (2011) there has been no change in the morphology and position of this barrier over the last 300 years. The history of these stationary barriers appears to have hinged on a combination of fluctuations in sediment supply from the rivers and direct storm impacts and overwashing (Sabatier et al., 2008). Research on the back-barrier lagoonal deposits has demonstrated that the barrier systems were significantly affected by numerous phases of storminess during the past 7000 years (Sabatier et al., 2012), most recently during the Little Ice Age (Dezileau et al., 2011). Storm overwash played an overarching role in the morphodynamics of these systems, generating lagoonal infilling, rather than barrier storage of sand. Along the relatively arid southern shores of the Mediterranean, where aeolian activity has commonly generated dune systems, these storm and overwash impacts may be less common, but research on Holocene records from these shores are unfortunately lacking.

6. Early morphogenesis of river deltas and human impacts

The formation of Mediterranean river deltas may be envisaged in two broad successive stages. The first corresponds to the delta inception scenario tied to sea-level stabilisation (Stanley and Warne, 1994), and the second (Section 7) to relatively synchronous delta formation over the last 2500 years, especially in the Western Mediterranean, associated with the rise of classical civilisations and population dynamics, a theme that has been well documented by researchers in Italy (e.g. Fabbri, 1985; Pranzini, 2001) and Spain (Vita-Finzi, 1975), and recently echoed by Maselli and Trincardi (2013). In both stages, delta morphogenesis and subsequent morphodynamics have been more or less strongly mediated directly and indirectly by human activities.

The most deeply incised palaeo-valleys became sites for the formation of some Mediterranean deltas around 8500 years ago when deceleration in sea-level rise favoured the accumulation of extensive sediment tracts in coastal depocentres (Stanley and Warne, 1994). Nile delta sedimentation began at about this time as the rising postglacial sea level drowned the incised Pleistocene topography, essentially shaped by local wadis and the Nile's braided stream channels during the sea-level lowstand of the Late Glacial Maximum (Stanley and Warne, 1993; Flaux, 2012). Recent research suggests that morphogenesis of the Nile delta has been modulated by a gradual ~60% decrease in sedimentation rates between the early and late Holocene (Marriner et al., 2012c). The Nile's sediment supply, sea-level change and subsidence histories, which have collectively mediated deltaic growth, have been used to reconstruct a delta accretion model (Fig. 8). Following the early to mid-Holocene growth of the Nile's deltaic plain, sediment losses and pronounced decay are first recorded around 4000 years ago, driven by falling sediment supply from the catchment and an intensification of anthropogenic impacts. Channelling and drainage of the wetlands for agriculture altered sediment and water routing through the delta, with further implications for human-accentuated subsidence of organic-rich deltaic sediments. These changes in Nile flow and sediment supply mediated a shift at about 4000 cal BP from a river-dominated delta to a more wave-influenced delta. One further consequence of the millennial-scale ebb in Nile flow and human channelling of the delta



Fig. 7. Environmental evolution of the Tyrian coast during the past 8000 years, showing the morphodynamics of tombolos associated with the ancient harbour of Tyre (adapted from Marriner et al., 2008a, 2008b). Tyre lies on the distal southern margin of the Litani delta, which was key to supplying sediment for the formation of the city's tombolo. Note the progressive evolution from an indented to a regularised coastline during the period.



Fig. 8. The geomorphic and sedimentary status of the Nile delta in the course of the Holocene (adapted from Marriner et al., 2012d), and comparison with human population growth. (a) Spatially averaged Nile delta sedimentation (i, ii, iii), and estimation of human population (iv). (b) Geography of Nile delta subsidence rates. Nile prodelta sedimentation rate from Revel et al. (2010), and population estimate for Nile valley in Egypt from Butzer (1976).

was a gradual reduction in the number of fluvial branches from seven in early Antiquity to just two at present (Stanley and Warne, 1993). Whilst no Holocene analogue exists for the current sediment-starved deltaic system, the reconstruction suggests that the coastal fringe of the deltaic plain, parts of which have been prone to the highest subsidence rates (Fig. 8d) has a particularly long history of vulnerability to extreme events and relative sea-level rise. Build-up of the Rhône delta plain similarly began about 7000 years ago and took place in several stages which are still visible in the present morphology, which includes prodelta deposits, palaeochannels, sandy beach ridges, dunes and spits (Vella et al., 2005; Amorosi et al., 2013a). The subsequent history of the Rhône delta echoes the influences of both climatic changes and human interventions that were especially notable during the Roman era and the Little Ice Age (Arnaud-Fassetta and Provansal, 1999; Bruneton et al., 2001; Arnaud-Fassetta, 2002, 2003; Provansal et al., in press). In the smaller Tiber delta, multi-proxy investigations around the river mouth and the Roman town of Ostia have shown an evolution pattern involving three distinct phases over the last 5000 years (Bellotti et al., 2011). In the first stage (5000–2700 yr BP) a cuspate delta was built at the river mouth, which was located north of the present outlet. Subsequently, between 2700–1900 BP, an abrupt southward migration of the river mouth led to the abandonment of the previous cusp and the progradation of a new one. The third step, which is still in progress, has been strongly mediated by human impacts (Section 7) and marked by the appearance of a complex cusp made up of two distributary channels.

Several other recently documented examples illustrate the interplay between societies and the geomorphological onset and early growth of deltaic plains in the Mediterranean following sea-level stabilisation. Such growth commonly occurred in the form of bay-head deltas in low-energy embayments where a small accommodation space was rapidly infilled by pulses of sediment supply mediated by human activities. Many embayments thus underwent coastal metamorphosis during the mid Holocene, evolving from transgressed rias to prograding deltaic plains (Kayan, 1999). On the island of Malta, early Holocene deforestation by human societies began around 7300 years ago and appears to have significantly impacted upon sediment pulsing to coastal lowlands with a reduction in the island's ria dimensions (Gambin, 2004, 2005). For instance, in the ria of Burmarrad, deltaic progradation reduced the area of the embayment by up to 40% between the Neolithic period and the Bronze Age (Marriner et al., 2012b). Data from coastal Sicily show that humid conditions, to flush sediments from source to coastal sink areas, persisted in the region until around 4500 years ago (Tinner et al., 2009; Magny et al., 2011). A sparse tree cover would have rendered the sediment-generating catchments particularly sensitive to soil erosion during the flash flood-type events that are typical of the Maltese islands and the Central and Eastern Mediterranean (Djamali et al., 2012). Similar scenarios played out in the rias of Ionia (Brückner et al., 2002; Kraft et al., 2006) and the Gialias of Cyprus (Devillers, 2008). On the Gialias delta, for instance, a vast marine embayment formed during the early Holocene marine ingression. The ensuing growth of the deltaic plain significantly impacted upon the human geographies of coastal occupation, as manifested by the landlocking of three ancient harbour sites: Early/Middle Bronze Age Kalopsidha, Middle/Late Bronze Age Enkomi, Graeco-Roman Salamina and finally Medieval Famagusta on the distal margin of the palaeo-ria. Similarly, recent research by Kaniewski et al. (2013) looking at pollen records from the Namaan delta demonstrates that coastal societies around Akko (Haifa Bay) began significantly modifying vegetation and coastal environments between around 4000 and 3300 cal. BC, expressed by transition from a densely forested landscape to a shrub-steppe. These human-induced changes generated significant sediment pulsing to the Levant's coasts from the Bronze Age onwards and drove rapid changes on downdrift coasts (e.g. Marriner et al., 2008b).

In the Patras Gulf of Greece, the Acheloos delta is a peculiar example of human-environment interactions because the delta has landlocked the former Oeniades archipelago (Vött et al., 2007). The military harbour of Oeniades in Trikardo Island is presently landlocked 9 km from the coast and demonstrates the considerable coastal changes since Antiquity (Fig. 9). Based on sedimentary and archaeological evidence, Vött et al. (2007) have found that around 3000 cal. yr BC, during early Helladic times, an anchorage existed on the swampy lagoonal shore in the southeast. High fluvial discharge between 1300-1000 cal yr BC resulted in efficient offshore sediment flushing and a fall in siltation rates, and created ideal anchoring conditions. During Classical-Hellenistic to Roman times-when the shipsheds were in use-the northern harbour experienced ongoing water inflow from the Acheloos River and communicated with the sea via a lagoon. During Roman to Byzantine times, a river harbour existed near a palaeo-Acheloos meander flowing near the southeastern fringe of Trikardo. In a context of stable sea level, the changes in sediment supply and in frequency of flooding, rapid shoreline advance and subsidence associated with these deltas in embayed settings have had, in turn, considerable meso-scale consequences, notably the decline and demise of many harbours and cities (Brückner, 1997; Arnaud-Fassetta et al., 2003; Stefaniuk and Morhange, 2005; Ghilardi et al., 2008; Fouache et al., 2010; Goiran et al., 2011; Ghilardi et al., 2014).

7. Classical civilisations and the waxing and waning of river deltas

A corollary of the rise of classical civilisations and the spread of new agricultural technologies was a significant increase in demographic pressures (e.g. Kaniewski et al., 2013), with concomitant deforestation throughout much of Europe and the circum Mediterranean (Kaplan et al., 2009). The waxing and waning of many deltas in the Western Mediterranean has been correlated with the rise and fall of the Roman civilisation as well as with subsequent demographic changes in Europe (e.g. Büntgen et al., 2011). The postulate of an overaching an-thropogenic influence on the formation and subsequent dynamics of Mediterranean deltas has been most vigorously applied in Peninsular Italy (the Po: Fabbri, 1985; Marchetti, 2002; Simeoni and Corbau, 2009; the Arno and Ombrone: Pranzini, 2001, 2007; Amorosi et al., 2013b; the Tiber: Bellotti et al., 2007), where it has given rise to the increasingly employed concept of 'man-made deltas' (Maselli and Trincardi, 2013).

The Po River catchment area is only 10% that of the Nile catchment area, but the subaerial delta of the Po grew extremely rapidly over the last 2000 years (Fig. 10a) to become the largest in the Mediterranean. Marchetti (2002) has claimed that human influence on the fluvial dynamics of the Po, especially since the Roman Age, has prevailed over climate, tectonics, and vegetation changes. This active growth has been purportedly driven essentially by human deforestation of the catchment (Simeoni and Corbau, 2009). From the 1st to 3rd centuries AD, land grants to Roman war veterans caused almost complete deforestation and generalised soil erosion, resulting in maximum progradation of the Po delta. This pattern of rapid deltaic growth over the last few millennia is mirrored by various other river deltas in Tuscany, notably the Arno and Ombrone (Fig. 10b,c), reportedly formed only over the last 2500 years, following large-scale deforestation of the catchment hillslopes, and which have prograded by up to 7 km over this time span (Pranzini, 2001, 2007). In addition to land-use changes, embanking of these rivers by Roman engineers has also been considered as having enhanced the progradation of their deltas. On the coastal plain formed by the Arno and Serchio Rivers, Amorosi et al. (2013b) have documented the gradual upswing in anthropogenic influence and the way this is embedded in the coastal-plain stratigraphy, culminating in the city of Pisa (Fig. 11). The transition from early Holocene transgressive conditions to the middle to late Holocene relative sea-level highstand phase is characterised by a regressive, shallowing-upward, stratigraphic succession of lagoonal, paludal and then poorly drained floodplain facies derived from sediments supplied by the two rivers. This coastal progradation under nearly stable sea-level conditions was interrupted by widespread swamp development close to the Iron-Etruscan Age transition. The meandering Arno and Serchio Rivers generated vast, low-lying floodplain swamps that strongly influenced the early Etruscan culture (7th-5th centuries BC) in terms of human settlement and societal behaviour. The subsequent ascendancy of human influence on this environment is attested at the transition to the Roman age (from the 1st century BC onwards), when the wetlands were drained and the modern delta plain started to form. Amorosi et al. (2013b) indicate that their palaeoenvironmental reconstruction fits in with the original geographical descriptions mentioned in Strabo's Chronicles.

A similar history of important progradation at the end of Antiquity resulting from land-use changes has also been reported from the deltas of the Tiber (Bellotti et al., 2007) and the Magra (Bini et al., 2012). The oldest archaeological evidence for human occupation at Ostia on the



Fig. 9. 6000 years of Acheloos delta formation (Greece) and landlocking of the classical city of Oiniades. Prior to the progradation of the delta, the area was characterised by a series of palaeo-islands (adapted from Vött et al., 2007).

Tiber delta dates to the fourth century BC, when human activity is also clearly recorded by pollen data. Bicket et al. (2009) have shown that the timing of settlement along the Laurentine shore (around the 1st century BC) is set against the backcloth of pronounced Tiber delta progradation. Roman villas, constructed within a series of dune ridges, dominated the delta coastline south of the Tiber river mouth. At present, these archaeological remains lie around 900 m from the current shoreline as a result of high sediment supply and relative sea-level stability. Recent luminescence dates from these dune ridge systems, coupled with the archaeology, demonstrate that there has been a fivefold increase in aggradation rates since the end of the Roman occupation compared to the early Holocene (Rendell et al., 2007).

A quiescent phase of reduced sediment supply related to abandonment of catchment slopes and reforestation following the fall of the Roman Empire in Europe has been postulated for both the Arno and the Ombrone deltas (Pranzini, 1989, 2001). In Tuscany, the sensitivity of deltas to human impact is further demonstrated by the erosion that occurred in the 14th and 15th centuries, very likely due to decimation of over half of the population in this Italian region caused by the Black Death epidemy (Pranzini, 2001). In Mediterranean Spain, a marked imprint of human influence appears to have occurred later in connection with the Islamic period and the Reconquista, during which the catchments of Spanish rivers were significantly modified by deforestation and timber exploitation (e.g. Carmona and Ruiz, 2011). Vita-Finzi (1975) considered that many small deltas on the southern Spanish coast did not form until the 15–16th centuries, as sediment supply accelerated following hillslope deforestation. The larger Ebro delta started evolving from an estuary into a delta about 2000 years ago, under the Roman period and especially during the Islamic occupation, and underwent strong progradation from 1500 to 1650 (Guillén and Palanques, 1997; Palanques and Guillén, 1998).

In the rest of the Western Mediterranean, the growth of most deltas, probably impeded during the Dark Ages as a result of the well-reforested catchments, is deemed to have resumed during the Renaissance Period of socio-economic growth, much of the expansion occurring from the 16th to the 18th centuries (Pranzini, 2001). The effects of such Renaissance land-use changes and hydraulic engineering have, for instance, been well documented for the Po delta. Between 1500 AD and 1600 AD, Venetian technicians diverted the Po, inducing a "Renaissance delta" that was cut off from the hydraulic network, and the formation of the "modern delta", the progradation of which was significant up to the middle of the 20th century due to the abundant sediment supply (Simeoni and Corbau, 2009). These latter changes correspond to the wet period of the Little Ice Age, during which demographic pressures on catchments and high river discharges favoured abundant sediment supply that led to enhanced delta growth.

8. The impacts of anthropogenic changes in river catchments on coasts and deltas since ca. 1800 AD

The impacts of changes in Mediterranean river catchment characteristics induced by human activities over the last two centuries have been



Fig. 10. Growth phases of the Po, Arno and Ombrone River deltas in Italy. (a) The Po delta: (i) at the end of the Bronze Age; (ii) during Roman times; (iii) at the end of the Medieval period; (iv) at the beginning of the 17th century. From Simeoni and Corbau, 2009; (b), (c) waxing and waning phases of the Arno and Ombrone deltas related to human influence on the river catchments that source these deltas in sediment. From Pranzini (2001, 2007).

well documented in numerous case studies as well as in basin-scale syntheses (e.g., Poulos and Collins, 2002; Hooke, 2006; Milliman and Farnsworth, 2011). A reduction in the frequency of extreme river discharges at the end of the LIA (Hohensinner et al., 2008) and agricultural decline in mountain catchments attended by reforestation have been reported to have led to a decrease in sediment supply (Bravard, 2002; Wohl, 2006; Hoffmann et al., 2010; Hinderer, 2012). Engineering works aimed at flood control and navigation, such as torrent management, channel embanking, and in-channel gravel and sand extractions have also affected riverine sediment supply to the coast. The geomorphic effects of embankments constructed on the Po and Arno Rivers and on the growth of the deltas at the mouths of these rivers were recognised by Cuvier (1818) nearly two centuries ago. However, hydropower dams appear to stand out as the overarching cause of fluvial sediment deficit through the interception and storage of much of the total sediment flux in reservoirs (e.g. Surian and Rinaldi, 2003). The construction of hundreds of dams in river catchments draining into the Mediterranean Sea (Fig. 12) has resulted in significant reductions in



Fig. 11. Representative stratigraphic sections of the middle to late Holocene facies architecture in the area of the old town of Pisa, Tuscany, Italy, near the Arno River (see Fig. 9b). Radiocarbon data are reported as calibrated BC. The sections show anthropogenic influence embedded in the coastal-plain stratigraphy, culminating in the modern city of Pisa. From Amorosi et al. (2013b).



Fig. 12. Mediterranean dams and reservoirs. (a) Upper plot: histogram representing the construction date of dams in the Mediterranean and Europe (5-year bins) from 1900 to present. Solid line denotes the kernel density. Bottom plot: Length and storage capacity of European and Mediterranean dams. (b) Surface area of reservoirs rimming the Mediterranean and Europe (in square kilometres).

All data adapted from the Global Reservoir and Dam Database (Lehner et al., 2011).

the sediment loads of many rivers, attaining 98% in the iconic case of the Nile (Table 2). At the same time, land-use changes in Mediterranean catchments, especially the abandonment of farmland in the mountainous hinterlands, have led to reforestation. Reductions in fluvial sediment loads have had severe effects on many Mediterranean deltas and their adjacent coasts.

The most dramatic changes have affected the Nile delta. Unlike many deltas in the Mediterranean characterised by mosquito-infested wetlands with low population densities (e.g. Rhône delta), the Nile delta has consistently been very heavily populated, a heritage of an ancient civilisation based on agriculture, with present population densities of up to 1600 inhabitants per square kilometre, and the delta includes important industrial and commercial cities, and numerous centres for summer tourism and recreation (El Banna and Frihy, 2009). The Nile delta has attracted significant research attention as fears of subsidence and projected sea-level rise potentially threaten one of Egypt's most valuable economic resources and the future livelihood of more than 50 million people (Becker and Sultan, 2009; Hereher, 2010; Aly et al., 2012; Marriner et al., 2012d; Stanley and Corwin, 2013). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has assigned the Nile depocentre to its 'extreme' category of vulnerability hotspots (Nicholls et al., 2007), one of just three deltas to fall into this group. Analyses of

Table 2

Pre- and post-dam changes in annual water discharge (Q) and sediment discharge (Q_s) in Mediterranean rivers. Modified after Milliman and Farnsworth (2011).

River	Basin area (km²)	Country	Pre-dam Q (km ³ /yr)	Post-dam Q (km ³ /yr)	Pre-dam Q _s (Mt/yr)	Post-dam Q _s (Mt/yr)	$% Q_s loss$
Rhône	96,000	France	54		59	6.2	89
Ebro	87,000	Spain	50	17	18	1.5	92
Ро	74,000	Italy	46		15	10	33
Tiber	17,000	Italy	7.4		1.3	0.3	77
Pescara	3300	Italy	1.7	0.9	2.2	1.2	45
Ombrone	3200	Italy	0.8		1.3	1.9	81
Tronto	1200	Italy	0.3		1.2	0.6	50
Drini	19,600	Albania	12		16	2.1	87
Vijose	6700	Albania	6.4		29	8.3	71
Semani	5300	Albania	5.6		30	16	47
Asi	23,000	Turkey	2.7		19	0.36	98
Ceyhan	21,000	Turkey	7		5.5	4.8	13
Moulouya	54,500	Morocco	1.3	0.2	13	1	92
Cheliff	44,000	Algeria	1.3		8	4	50
Totals	262,700				227	58	75
(w/o Nile)							
Nile	2,900,000	Egypt	80	≪30	120	2	98
Totals	3,162,700				347	60	83
(w/Nile)							

historical maps show that, during the 1800s, the Rosetta and Damietta delta promontories, corresponding to the two modern branches of the delta, prograded by 3 to 4 km, in response to the large sediment supply to the coast that went through these branches (Frihy and Lawrence, 2004). The construction of two dams on the upper river in Aswan and barrages on both the upper and lower Nile river at the beginning of the 20th century led to a cut-off of almost all water discharge from the river and delivery of sediments to the coast, resulting in a switch of the accretion regime to one of erosion (Frihy and Khafagy, 1991). Between 1825 and 1902, the estimated suspended sediment load upstream of the Low Aswan Dam was 200×10^6 t a year, whereas from 1902 to 1963 the average load was reduced by approximately

20% to 160×10^{6} t yr⁻¹. From 1963 to 2000, the average suspended load upstream of the dam experienced a further decline reaching 126×10^{6} t yr⁻¹ (El Banna and Frihy, 2009).

Other factors have also contributed to the extensive erosion of the delta coastline during recent times. These include an abrupt decrease in the annual discharge of the Nile River during the 20th century due to low rainfall within its catchment area in the Ethiopian Plateau and central Africa that has led to reduced sediment delivery to the river, and sea-level rise (Fig. 13). Local deltaic subsidence is another contributory factor, and can exceed 5 mm yr⁻¹ in some areas (Becker and Sultan, 2009). Subsidence is particularly pronounced in the youngest deltaic sediments, which undergo the most important phase of volume



Fig. 13. Exacerbation of erosion of the Rosetta branch of the Nile delta by sediment trapping by the Aswan Dam. (a) RSL data from the tide guage record at Alexandria, depicting a gradual rise since the 1940s. (b) Maximum monthly discharge of the Nile in m³/s (adapted from Uvo et al., 2009). Note the sharp drop in discharge after the construction of the Aswan Dam and its implications for sediment supply to the Nile Delta area. (c) Erosion of the Rosetta lobe, depicted in both land loss area (km², black line) and retreat rate (m/yr, grey circles). Adapted from data in Hereher (2011).

loss immediately after deposition, meaning that the present Damietta and Rossetta lobes are particularly vulnerable to degradation under the present sediment-starved regime (Frihy et al., 2003; Stanley and Corwin, 2013). Both lobes have undergone significant erosion during the past 50 years (Hereher, 2011).

For many of the Mediterranean's deltas, sharp reductions in sediment supply, subsidence and artificial lowering of the piezometric zone have also engendered problems related to saltwater intrusion and soil salinisation (Werner et al., 2013). This has impacted upon the exploitation of economic resources, both industrial and agricultural, and the ecology of deltaic wetlands. The Nile delta hosts around 70% of Egypt's industrial activity and is home to more than half of Egypt's population both of which place heavy demands on the delta. High population densities have notably created pressures on the delta's freshwater resources; excessive pumping has led to saline water intrusion from the sea boundary with a concomitant increase in soil salinity (Ebraheem et al., 1997). Up to 60% of agricultural lands in the lower delta are now considered as being affected by soil salinisation.

In the Ebro catchment, the total load downstream of dams, now estimated at around 0.45×10^6 t yr⁻¹, represents only 3% of what was transported at the beginning of the 20th century to the delta plain (Vericat and Batall, 2006). Sediment yield is three to four times lower below the dams due to trapping within the reservoirs, which according to these authors, concerns 100% of the bedload. This decrease in sediment discharge has, thus, especially affected the sand fraction, directly impacting the stability of the deltaic shoreline, which, after several centuries of progradation, evolved into an erosional regime in the second half of the 20th century (Palanques et al., 1990). According to Simeoni and Corbau (2009), reductions in sediment supply by the Po River to the coast during the 20th century, caused by dams, riverbed excavations, land reclamations, and methane extractions from the superficial ground water table, have strongly affected the delta, leading, in particular, to chronic coastal erosion. Since the mid-19th century, both the Arno and Ombrone deltas have also experienced severe erosion, beginning at the river mouth and gradually expanding to the lateral beaches and barriers (Pranzini, 2001). Approximately 800 m of coast were eroded at the apex of the Ombrone delta and 1200 m on the unprotected northern side of the Arno delta, whereas the recently documented maximum erosion rates are 11 and 20 m a year, respectively. This erosion is attributed to mountain reforestation, river damming, river-bed guarrying and wetland reclamation (Pranzini, 2001).

A detailed sediment balance for the lower Rhône river over the last 130 years has been constructed by Provansal et al. (2014) who showed net storage (+13.08 to +17.1 Mm³ of sediment) in the channel margins related to engineering works and afforestation prior to dams, and a net loss (-4.64 to -11.2 Mm³ of sediment) for this lower fluvial reach resulting from trapping upstream by dams. These authors also showed that sediment accumulation at the mouth of the Rhône occurred to the tune of +3.4 Mm³/y prior to 1970, and +1.2 Mm³/y since then, i.e., a more than 50% drop.

Liquete et al. (2005) have noted, however that sediment load reduction effects have, to date, had, little effect on many of the deltas of the small, steep rivers and torrents of the coast of Andalusia. In other areas, deltas have actually accreted as a result of land-use changes, fine examples being the Meric (Ekercin, 2007) and the Ceyhan (Alphan, 2005), in southeastern Turkey, whereas the neighbouring Seyhan delta has undergone significant retreat in the last thirty years following upstream river damming (Kuleli, 2010). The effects of changes in river sediment yield on delta morphology resulting from human activities have also been documented for the Shkumbini, Semani and Vjosë deltas of Albania, which have surprisingly high sediment yields relative to catchment size (Ciavola et al., 1999). Probably the most radical transformation of a delta in the Mediterranean is that operated on the small Var delta (c. 10 km²) on the French Riviera coast in the course of the 20th century (Fig. 14). These changes included the construction of several run-of-the-river barrages in the lower course of the Var River to control flooding and enhance water supply (Julian and Anthony, 1996), and total reclamation and engineered extension of the Var delta plain through infill of its seaward margins in order to expand the accommodation and runway facilities of the international airport of Nice. These engineering operations have led to a gain in artificially created area of 3.5 km², and an armouring of the artificial shoreline thus created (Anthony, 1994; Anthony and Julian, 1999). An important accident resulting from these drastic changes was a submarine landslide in 1979 that led to several casualties and severe structural damage, including the collapse of a harbour pier under construction adjacent to a Messinian canyon (Fig. 14b) near the mouth of the delta (Anthony and Julian, 1997). The natural supply of gravel to the adjacent embayed beaches, especially that of Nice, has also been completely cut off, leaving present beach sediment budgets with zero natural inputs. The resulting chronic beach erosion since the 1960s needs to be contained by frequent beach nourishment (Anthony et al., 2011), the total volume of which, over the last thirty years, far exceeds the entire volume of the initial gravel barrier.

9. Delta morphodynamic changes over time and the human impact

Flucutations in sediment supply mediated by human activities and climate changes (see Section 11) and engineering of river channels have also largely conditioned the morphology of Mediterranean deltas, against a background of fetch-limited waves, narrow tidal range and variability in storminess. Delta morphologies have apparently varied in time, although reported case studies are sparse. The earliest morphodynamic changes occurred in the bay-head ria deltas that became increasingly exposed to waves following infill of embayment accommodation space by progradation, as well as in the Nile (Figs. 8, 9). The growth of these ria-type deltas may be envisaged in a three-phase model: (1) marine transgression creating fluvial embayments between around 8000 to 6000 years ago; (2) rapid deltaic progradation probably expressed by a digitated delta morphology in a protected environment (e.g., the Menderes delta in Turkey (Brückner et al., 2002) and the Caimenderes delta around Troy (Kraft et al., 2006)); and (3) shoreline regularisation at the ria mouth, which translates the stadial transition from fluvial-dominated processes in sheltered bay-head settings to increasing exposure to waves.

Several of the larger deltas such as the Nile, the Po and the Rhône have been characterised by the development of successive lobes in adjustment to human-mediated sediment supply fluctuations, delta channel engineering and ensuing balances between progradation and aggradation. The millennial-scale decline in Nile flow and human channeling of the delta that led to a gradual reduction in the number of fluvial branches from seven, in early Antiquity, to just two at present (Stanley and Warne, 1993) has favoured enhanced wave reworking of the delta. The Po delta began life as a strongly wave-influenced delta between 4000 and 2000 years ago, evolved to a digitated river-dominated delta during the 1500s under the influence of strong progradation related to increasing destabilisation of the catchment hillslopes in the late Middle Ages, and has recently re-entered the original strongly wave-influenced category due to reduction in river sediment input (Pranzini, 2013). The phases of lobe abandonment and new lobe development associated with this dynamic delta have been recently synthesised by Simeoni and Corbau (2009). These changes echo those that have been described from the analysis of ancient maps of the Rhône, involving shifts from digitated, through lobate plan shapestypical of a balance in favour of strong river influence relative to waves-to more cuspate shapes expressing stronger wave control of delta morphodynamics (Provansal et al., in press).

At present, many Mediterranean deltas are relatively symmetrical, in morphometric terms, and subject to bi-directional drift (Fig. 15), such as the Ebro (Jimenez et al., 1997), the Ombrone, Arno, Tiber and Volturno (Aminti and Pranzini, 1990; Pranzini, 2001), the Shkumbini in Albania (Ciavola et al., 1999), and the main Pila lobe of the Po (Simeoni and



Fig. 14. The Var River delta on the French Riviera, southeastern France. (a) Google Earth image of the delta, a fine example of radical human transformation of a delta, ranging from the effects, on sediment supply, of the construction of several barrages in the lower course of the river a few kilometres upstream of the delta, to reclamation and extension of the delta plain. (b) Infill and complete armouring of the shoreline for the construction of the international airport of Nice. Up to 3.5 km² of additional space was gained by reclamation of part of the steep, muddy delta front through construction of groynes, embankments and infill structures. Part of this reclamation fill, including a harbour breakwater, collapsed on October 16 1979, following a submarine landslide, causing numerous casualties.

Corbau, 2009). This drift divergence leads to redistribution of fluvial deposits on both flanks of these deltas, fulfilling their role as sediment purveyors to adjacent coasts. Pranzini (2001) showed this common trend towards delta symmetry to be a product of self-organised delta growth despite an initial dominant regional drift direction. Within the context of abundant sediment supply that has seen the growth of these deltas, this development may reflect: (1) a commonly single parent channel, (2) the relatively fetch-limited wave conditions and large directional apportionment of the wave energy, potentially limiting wave removal

of fluvial sediment, but with one dominant wave window, (3) high winter river discharges that also coincide with the most energetic waves, potentially favouring the rapid growth of cuspate-type deltas facing the energetic wave window and subject to divergent drift from the mouth.

The pulsed pattern of delta development involving the waxing and waning of delta size between the Roman period and the Little Ice Age has now become much less reversible in the modern era following widespread drastic reductions in fluvial sediment inputs. The recent



Fig. 15. The Ebro and Ombrone river deltas. These morphometrically relatively symmetrical deltas are characterised by divergent drift from the mouth following a pattern of progradation wherein delta growth has occurred to face the dominant wave direction.

massive reductions in river sediment supply to Mediterranean deltas are presently affecting the morphodynamic framework of many of these deltas, inducing river-mouth erosion and a shift in particular to an increasingly wave-influenced regime, as has been documented for the Nile (El Banna and Frihy, 2009), the Rhône (Sabatier et al., 2006), the Ombrone (Pranzini, 2007), the Po (Pranzini, 2013), and the Ebro (Ibáñez et al., 2014). In some cases, notably where small deltas have developed along the semi-arid shores of the Mediterranean, wave reworking has led to rapid delta demise. For instance, prior to dam construction, the sediment supply of the Moulouya (53,500 km²), though relatively small (about 12×10^6 t yr⁻¹) as a result of the weak liquid discharge in the semi-arid setting of western Morocco, was significant enough to have led to the progradation of a small asymmetric delta of about 30 km² skewed east of the mouth of the river by longshore drift (Snoussi et al., 2002). Since the construction of a major dam on the river, the fluvial sediment input has been reduced by 93%, leading to

the straightening of the shoreline, delta destruction and narrowing of the mouth (Snoussi et al., 2002). Drastic changes affecting the small Adra delta (c. 30 km²) in southeastern Spain have also been reported by Jabaloy-Sánchez et al. (2010). Between 1872 and 1972, damming of the natural river channel very close to its mouth and the construction of two successive artificial channels to divert the river flow resulted in erosion of the original delta and the formation of a new, asymmetrical delta at the mouth of the artificial channels. Between 1972 and 2010, the damming of the trunk river in the central sector of the catchment led to a drastic reduction in sediment flow to the coast, thus triggering general erosion and coastline retreat.

One possible outcome of delta erosion is that it may be assuring a degree of temporary stability to barrier coasts downdrift, the updrift deltaic reworking feeding these downdrift barriers (Stanley and Warne, 1998). In exact contrast to this process of 'cannibalism', marked variations in erosion and accretion resulting from the sharp gradients in

sediment transport induced by decreasing deltaic sediment budgets may be leading to increased sediment sequestering in the vicinity of the deltas, in a process of self-organised delta preservation. This is likely to be the case in the larger-discharge deltas. These aspects, which have important implications for the survival of the Mediterranean's clastic coasts and deltas, are briefly examined in Section 12.

10. Large-scale anthropogenic destabilisation of non-deltaic coasts

Since rivers draining into the Mediterranean have been subjected to marked fluctuations in sediment yield related to anthropogenic activity in the catchments, especially since the Graeco-Roman period, and to climate change, these fluctuations have, in turn, impacted on the stability of adjacent barrier coasts. The changes in fluvial sediment supply that generated pulses of delta-plain growth and stagnation in the Mediterranean have been shown, for instance, to have affected the geomorphic development of adjoining coastal barriers (e.g., Dubar and Anthony, 1995).

Many of these barrier systems are now exposed to erosion and subjected to pervasive engineering works. Although direct human interventions on Mediterranean shores can be traced back to the cases of harbour development in Antiquity discussed earlier, and more spectacularly to the tombolos constructed in Tyre and Alexandria by Alexander the Great's engineers during the Hellenistic period (Marriner et al., 2008b), massive and pervasive coastal engineering interventions with far-reaching consequences are products of urban, port and tourism development over the last few decades. In the course of the 20th century, the coastal impacts of riverine sediment reductions associated with the Agricultural and Industrial Revolutions have been aggravated by direct anthropogenic pressures on the shores of the Mediterranean, at the same time as this basin has become the world's leading tourism and leisure destination. Accommodating this leading position has involved both direct shoreline appropriation by the economic sector, notably based on tourism, and engineering efforts aimed at stabilising shores that are now increasingly prone to erosion or rendered artificial. Long and enduring anthropogenic pressures on the depositional coasts of the Mediterranean have had a destabilising effect on beach-dune systems. Fine examples of coastal geomorphic changes induced by these developments have been described from the Tangiers (Sedrati and Anthony, 2007) and Tetouan coasts (El Mrini et al., 2012) of Morocco, the coast of Tunisia (Halouani et al., 2013), the northeastern coast of the Nile delta (El Banna and Frihy, 2009), Haifa Bay in Israel (Zviely et al., 2009), the Tuscany coast in Italy (Anfuso et al., 2011), the Catalonia coast in Spain (Jiménez et al., 2012) and the French Riviera and Gulf of Lyons coasts in France (Anthony, 1994; Anthony and Sabatier, 2012, 2013; Brunel et al., 2014). Coastal sediment budget determinations referencing these impacts are, however, rare. Exceptions include the secular-scale budgets computed from bathymetric surveys for the Rhône delta by Sabatier et al. (2006) and for the western gulf of Lyons coast and shoreface by Brunel et al. (2014). The latter study highlighted, in particular, a shoreface sediment budget reduction of over 30 million m³ concerning 200 km of coast over the last 25 years, generated essentially by deficient sediment supply from rivers.

On all these clastic coasts, the most pervasive development effect has been a drastic reduction of beach width due to the growth of urban fronts, and destruction of aeolian dunes, resulting in perturbations of beach–dune sediment exchanges. Beach erosion has often been aggravated because of the incapacity of dammed rivers to supply fresh sediment. The plethora of seawalls aimed at protecting urban fronts, and groynes and breakwaters constructed to contain erosion, has commonly resulted in worsening the situation, generating further downdrift erosion, with the unfortunate recourse to further engineering structures. Shoreline changes have also strongly affected seagrass colonies that play a role in dissipating wave energy on Mediterranean shores (e.g., Simeone and De Falco, 2012). This is the case of both *Posidonia oceanica* and *Zostera noltei*, largely destroyed by beach protection structures, beach nourishment operations, 'marina'-type developments, and pollution.

11. Discussion: disentangling the human influence from that of climate change

The antiquity of the long relationship between Humans and Mediterranean coasts is most clearly illustrated by the development of numerous ancient harbours throughout the Mediterranean from the Bronze Age onwards, reflecting palaeo-engineering accompaniments of varying degrees to situations of shelter from waves favourable to the development of trade. Expressions of this long relationship are further expressed by patterns of river delta growth and decay reported in a large corpus of studies. This relationship may be synthesised schematically in terms of a rising continuum with embedded variability from ancient to present times, characterised by phases of significant deltaic progradation punctuated by stagnation or delta retreat (Fig. 16).

Beyond this general statement, the anthropogenic impact on river sediment supply and delta morphogenesis is likely to have been variable-both in space and time-throughout the Mediterranean, depending on lithology, human pressures on landscapes, and climate variability (Stewart and Morhange, 2009; Dusar et al., 2011). Climate changes and human societies have impacted upon basin hydrology and land cover, thus influencing the sediment production from source to sink areas that has effectively been, in turn, a key agent in mediating human occupation of the Mediterranean's clastic coasts. Climate changes have modulated not only river flow and sediment delivery, but also the frequency and intensity of coastal storms and storm reworking of coastal deposits (e.g. Dezileau et al., 2011). However, disentangling the influence of climate variability on sediment supply to base level and delta growth and decay from that of Humans over the last 6000 years is far from being straightforward, whatever the type of environmental proxy used (Fig. 17). In the Nile River, for instance, significant millennial-scale decreases in sediment supply are underpinned by an orbitally-driven southern displacement of moisture-bearing monsoon rains (Fig. 18). These not only acted as pacemakers for widespread deltaic changes (e.g. Bernhardt et al., 2012), but also influenced the nature and distribution of human activities along the Nile's fluvial corridor, culminating in the emergence of Egypt's Pharaonic civilisation around 5000 years ago (Brooks, 2006; Kuper and Kröpelin, 2006). The delta area was particularly attractive due to its low topography (despite the risk of flooding), high productivity and rich biodiversity. It rapidly became a focal point for Egyptian civilisation (Butzer, 1976). In the case of the Tuscan deltas, links between changes in delta area over time and human activities have been identified mainly from one or a combination of the following approaches: (1) archaeological data, (2) distant correlations between, on the one hand, radiometric ages of deltaic beach-ridge strandplains and their patterns, and historical documentation of land-use changes in the catchments, on the other hand, and (3) from morphostratigraphic and palynological data. Nevertheless, whatever their respective merits as palaeoenvironmental records, land-use, river and delta morphometric and sediment archives have significant limitations because they may entail large chronological uncertainty that is a source of difficulty in assessing rates of landscape change (Dusar et al., 2011). Furthermore, as these authors also noted, because of the rich cultural heritage of the Mediterranean, most palaeo-environmental research has been conducted on or near archeological sites, where direct human impact may blur the indirect impact on sediment dynamics arising from land-use changes.

The problem is also inherent to the spatial and temporal variability of climate and climate change in the Mediterranean. Mediterranean rivers are sourced by catchments that have been particularly sensitive to climatic events over the last 5000 years, within a context of increasing anthropogenic landscape perturbation. There is, however, significant uncertainty regarding spatio-temporal fluctuations in climatic signals throughout the Mediterranean basin. These signals are considered as



Fig. 16. A schematic synthesis of human-induced impacts on the coasts of the Mediterranean, including ancient harbour development and palaeo-engineering, and phases of river delta growth and decay over the last 6000 years. Red line shows the general human impact pattern, the blue line the Nile delta pattern, and the green line local changes in Islamic Spain.

having had potentially variable effects in an extremely variable Mediterranean context of fluvial hydrology and sediment supply to base level (e.g., Grove and Rackman, 2001; Stewart and Morhange, 2009; Fletcher and Zielhofer, 2013; Magny et al., 2013). Although humandriven increases in river flow and sediment discharge have been reported to have occurred in Roman times in the Rhône catchment, for instance, resulting in enhanced deltaic progradation, these increases have also been interpreted as echoing a distant climatic influence in the upstream reaches (Bruneton et al., 2001; Arnaud-Fassetta, 2002).

The example of the Rhône underlines the difficulty of separating climatic forcing on sediment supply fluctuations (e.g. Fletcher and Zielhofer, 2013) from the effects of anthropogenic pressures (e.g. Faust et al., 2004; Butzer, 2005; Lespez, 2007; Casana, 2008; Dusar et al., 2011; Brisset et al., 2013). Together with the spatial variability of patterns of delta growth under the influence of Humans, it also warns against a simplistic view of Mediterranean deltas as human constructs. Human-driven changes in sediment supply are, for instance, almost

completely ignored by Fletcher and Zielhofer (2013) in their synthesis of late Holocene rapid climate changes in the Mediterranean. The breakdown of Mediterranean catchment landscapes has been viewed recently in terms of a two-phased process, wherein rapid climate-driven fluctuations have triggered weaknesses that have made these landscapes vulnerable to human activities (e.g. Casana, 2008; Brisset et al., 2013). This probably adequately synthesises the joint action of these two sets of drivers of environmental change in the Mediterranean.

This complex nexus between human activities and rapid climate change is perhaps more clearly exemplified by the better-constrained climatic, hydrological and historical archives relating to the Little Ice Age. The significant progradation of the Rhône delta, for instance, as of many other deltas in the Western Mediterranean between the end of the 16th and middle of the 19th centuries, owes much to the hydrological regime generated by the cold and wet climatic conditions that accompanied the LIA and its numerous internal oscillations (Sections 6 and 7). In the case of the Rhône River, for instance (undoubtedly one



Fig. 17. A selection of circum-Western Mediterranean environmental proxies based on work by Sabatier et al. (2012), Wirth et al. (2013), Arnaud et al. (2012) and Brisset et al. (2013), and fluvial sediment supply, delta growth and decay patterns. Vertical bars in the storminess column show major barrier overwash phases identified by Sabatier et al. (2012) in the Gulf of Lions.



Fig. 18. A comparison of regional environmental proxies, human population, and the sedimentary and geomorphic status of the Nile Ddelta during the Holocene (adapted from Marriner et al., 2013). (a) Holocene insolation at 30° N for June–July–August (Laskar et al., 2004). (b) On the right axis: radiocarbon dates from early and mid-Holocene occupation sites in the Eastern Sahara (Kuper and Kröpelin, 2006). The solid black line denotes a three-point moving average. On the left axis: estimates for the population of the Nile valley in Egypt (Butzer, 1976). These are represented by the thin black line. (c) North African lake levels (Gasse and Roberts, 2004). (d) Nile delta accretionary status. The record shows that the Nile delta has a particularly long history of vulnerability to extreme events (e.g., floods and storms) and sea-level rise, although the present sediment-starved system, since the construction of the Aswan High Dam, does not have a direct Holocene analogue. It highlights the importance of the world's deltas as sensitive archives to investigate Holocene geosystem response to climate change, risks and hazards, and societal interaction.

of the rivers of the world with the oldest series of hydrological archivesthe Histrhône data base (http://histrhone.cerege.fr-generated by the historical work of Pichard and Roucaute (2014)), the confrontation of discharge data with ancient maps corroborated by geomorphic interpretation highlights two main phases of Rhône delta progradation that coincided with strong river floods, respectively at the end of the 16th century and start of the 18th century (Provansal et al., in press). Between these periods, a reduction in river energy was accompanied by a clear command of marine processes on the delta shoreline, marked especially by the formation of large spits from the reworking of abandoned lobes. However, hydrological forcing was only efficient when coupled with abundant sediment fluxes generated by agricultural stripping of the Rhône catchment generated by strong population growth after the crisis of the 14-15th centuries. These changes are corroborated by multi-proxy analyses of cores from the Rhône prodelta which show four different intervals over the LIA, each of which has been correlated with phases of channel avulsion induced by climate events and/or by human activities (Fanget et al., 2012).

In the same vein, although dams are pointed out as the primary cause of modern fluvial sediment retention, with the consequent negative impact on coastal sediment budgets in the Mediterranean, there are very few studies that have actually attempted to disentangle decreases in sediment flux caused by natural and land-use changes from those generated by dams. An exception is that of the well-documented Rhône river budget. Following a fine-tuned analysis of the morphological and sediment budget changes that have affected the lower Rhône over the last 130 years, Provansal et al. (2014) concluded that hydroelectric dams constructed on the river over the last thirty years have had little or no impact, the river having already been transformed by navigation and flood control works before upstream dam installations could impact the downstream reach and the coast. The sources of sediment, torrential in origin, had already been exhausted before the dams were constructed.

12. Conclusions and perspectives: the future of the Mediterranean's coasts and deltas

The nature of the Mediterranean's clastic coasts and the growth of deltas reflects the cumulative interplay of several natural factors and the increasingly overarching influence of human activities over the last 6000 years (Fig. 16). These factors include inherited coastal geology and coastal morphology, determinant in terms of accommodation space for coastal sediment accumulation, sea-level oscillations, which have mediated the available accommodation space, a potentially complex and variable relationship between climate change, landscape degradation and fluvial sediment supply, and the oceanographic regime that acts on sediment dispersal in coastal areas. The human influence has acted directly and indirectly on fluvial sediment supply and via engineered interventions on rivers and the coast. This influence will grow as sediment supplies will need to balance accomommodation space created by sea-level rise, as has been demonstrated for both Mediterranean overwashed barriers and large pocket beaches, for instance (Brunel and Sabatier, 2009). The vulnerability of coasts and deltas resulting from various human activities and in the face of sea-level rise associated with climate change has been abundantly addressed in the recent literature (e.g., Ericson et al., 2006; Syvitski et al., 2009; Ibáñez et al., 2014; Masselink and Gehrels, 2014). By reducing river liquid discharge and sediment supply, human activities invariably also enhance the potential influence of waves in destroying coasts and deltas. They also set a template of environmental vulnerability within which future rapid climate changes will operate (Fletcher and Zielhofer, 2013).

As far as Mediterranean deltas are specifically concerned, two potential directions of morphological change following the weakening of river influence may be invoked. Deltas facing the dominant waves, common in the Mediterranean for reasons evoked in the preceding section, may retreat while keeping their plan shape, although over time positive feedback effects may lead to a dominant drift direction. This type of situation is typical of the eroding Rosetta lobe of the Nile (Hereher, 2011) and of the Ombrone (Pranzini, 2001). The other direction may be represented by increasingly skewed or asymmetric and finally deflected or straigtened deltas as net river strength decreases over the long term whereas the wave climate is likely to become more energetic in response to climate change and greater storminess. The example of the Moulouya illustrates this situation.

Ibáñez et al. (2014) argued that Mediterranean river deltas may be capable of coping with sea-level rise (SLR) through three selfreinforcing mechanisms as the SLR rates increase, and claimed that these mechanisms would tend to enhance the efficiency of the deltaic sedimentary trap. These are: (a) an increase in the frequency of delta lobe switching with accelerated SLR leading to the formation of new lobes in shallow areas; (b) an increase in the frequency and magnitude of flood events in the delta plain as a consequence of increased crevassing through the natural river levees, leading to enhanced sediment deposition; and (c) an increase in the frequency and magnitude of overwash events in the delta fringes, enhancing the ability of sandy beaches to adapt to SLR. Ibáñez et al. (2014) also suggested that vertical aggradation (what they refered to as "rising grounds") more so than "rising dikes", or a combination of both, may be needed in many cases, such rising grounds being achieved through sediment management, such as in the Ebro delta, where the natural fluvial sediment supply has been drastically reduced by human activities. These considerations require, however, that the ongoing rise in sea level rise, and the sinking of deltas be more or less matched by fluvial sediment supply or by managed sediment husbandry. Although many Mediterranean deltas are largely products of human transformations of river catchments, the switch towards significant reductions in fluvial sediment supply reaching the coast today (Milliman and Farnsworth, 2011) may mean that this balance is not likely to be achieved, thus probably heralding the sinking and destruction of Mediterranean deltas.

The move towards any form of future sustainability of the Mediterranean's coasts and deltas will require a better understanding of fluvial source-to-coastal sink sediment transfers and coastal sediment budgets at various spatial and temporal scales (e.g. Provansal et al., 2014), coastal morphodynamic processes, and the determination of shoreline change rates. These efforts will also require balancing strategies of economic development that concern not only the prosperity of high-revenue urban shores notably open to tourism, but also lowrevenue shores that are more likely to be of ecological value (e.g., Armaroli et al., 2012). The Mediterranean region is considered as a major hotspot with respect to the expected effects of global warming (Giorgi, 2006). These objectives will therefore need to be achieved within a framework that clearly identifies the stakes of the future, including the impacts of climate change and sea-level rise, especially along the deltaic coasts, and concerted management strategies, especially those relating to river sediment inputs, urbanisation and coastal infrastructure development.

Acknowledgements

We thank Moshe Inbar and an anonymous reviewer for their salient suggestions for improvement. Patrick Pentsch helped in preparing some of the illustrations.

References

- Alphan, H., 2005. Perceptions of coastline changes in river deltas: southeast Mediterranean coast of Turkey. Int. J. Environ. Pollut. 23, 92–102.
- Aly, M.H., Klein, A.G., Zebkers, H.A., Giardino, J.R., 2012. Land subsidence in the Nile Delta of Egypt observed by persistent scatterer interferometry. Remote Sens. Lett. 3, 621–630.
- Aminti, P., Pranzini, E., 1990. Variations in longshore sediment ransport rates as a consequence of beach erosion in a cuspate delta. EUROCOAST, Marseille, pp. 130–134.
- Amorosi, A., Rossi, V., Vella, C., 2013a. Stepwise post-glacial transgression in the Rhône Delta area as revealed by high-resolution core data. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 374, 314–326.
- Amorosi, A., Bini, M., Giacomelli, S., Pappalardo, M., Ribecai, C., Rossi, V., Sammartino, I., Sarti, G., 2013b. Middle to late Holocene environmental evolution of the Pisa coastal plain (Tuscany, Italy) and early human settlements. Quat. Int. 303, 93–106.
- Andriani, G.F., Walsh, N., 2007. Rocky coast geomorphology and erosional processes: a case study along the Murgia coastline South of Bari, Apulia–SE Italy. Geomorphology 87, 224–238.
- Anfuso, G., Pranzini, E., Vitale, G., 2011. An integrated approach to coastal erosion problems in northern Tuscany (Italy): littoral morphological evolution and cell distribution. Geomorphology 129, 204–214.
- Anthony, E.J., 1994. Natural and artificial shores of the French Riviera: an analysis of their inter-relationship. J. Coast. Res. 10, 48–58.
- Anthony, E.J., 2009. Shore processes and their palaeoenvironmental applications. Developments in Marine Geology vol. 4. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam (519 pp.).
- Anthony, E.J., 2014a. Deltas. In: Masselink, G., Gehrels, R. (Eds.), Coastal Environments and Global Change. John Wiley & Sons Ltd., pp. 299–337.
- Anthony, E.J., 2014b. The Human influence on the Mediterranean coast over the last 200 years: a brief appraisal from a geomorphological perspective. Géomorphologie: Relief, Processus et Environnement 3, 219–226.
- Anthony, E.J., Julian, M., 1997. The 1979 Var Delta landslide on the French Riviera: a retrospective analysis. J. Coast. Res. 13, 27–35.
- Anthony, E.J., Julian, M., 1999. Source-to-sink sediment transfers, environmental engineering and hazard mitigation in the steep Var river catchment, French Riviera, southeastern France. Geomorphology 31, 337–354.
- Anthony, E.J., Sabatier, F., 2012. Chapter 18: coastal stabilization practice in France. In: Cooper, J.A.G., Pilkey, O.H. (Eds.), Pitfalls of Shoreline Stabilization: Selected Case Studies, Coastal Research Library 3. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 303–321.

- Anthony, E.J., Sabatier, F., 2013. France. In: Pranzini, E., Williams, A.T. (Eds.), Coastal Erosion and Engineering Solutions in Europe. Routledge, Abingdon, pp. 227–253.
- Anthony, E.J., Cohen, O., Sabatier, F., 2011. Chronic offshore loss of nourishment on Nice Beach, French Riviera: a case of over-nourishment of a steep beach? Coast. Eng. 58, 374–383.
- Armaroli, C., Ciavola, P., Perini, L., Calabrese, L., Lorito, S., Valentini, S., Masina, M., 2012. Critical storm thresholds for significant morphological changes and damage along the Emilia-Romagna coast, Italy. Geomorphology 143–144, 34–51.
- Arnaud, F., Révillon, S., Debret, M., Revel, M., Chapron, E., Jacob, J., Giguet-Covex, C., Poulenard, J., Magny, M., 2012. Lake Bourget regional erosion patterns reconstruction reveals Holocene NW European Alps soil evolution and paleohydrology. Quat. Sci. Rev. 51, 81–92.
- Arnaud-Fassetta, G., 2002. Geomorphological records of a 'flood-dominated regime' in the Rhône Delta (France) between the 1st century BC and the 2nd century AD. What correlations with the catchment paleohydrology? Geodin. Acta 15, 79–92.
- Arnaud-Fassetta, G., 2003. River channel changes in the Rhone Delta (France) since the end of the Little Ice Age: geomorphological adjustment to hydroclimatic change and natural resource management. Catena 51, 141–172.
- Arnaud-Fassetta, G., Provansal, M., 1999. High frequency variations of water flux and sediment discharge during the Little Ice Age (1586–1725 AD) in the Rhone Delta (Mediterranean France). Relationship to catchment. Hydrobiologia 410, 241–250.
- Arnaud-Fassetta, G., Carre, M.-B., Marocco, R., Maselli Scotti, F., Pugliese, N., Zaccaria, C., Bandelli, A., Bresson, V., Manzoni, G., Montenegro, M.E., Morhange, C., Pipan, M., Prizzon, A., Siché, I., 2003. The site of Aquileia (northeastern Italy): example of fluvial geoarchaeology in a Mediterranean deltaic plain. Géomorphologie: Relief, Processus et Environnement 4, 227–246.
- Bachea, F., Olivet, J.L., Gorinic, C., Rabineau, M., Baztan, J., Aslanian, D., Suc, J.-P., 2009. Messinian erosional and salinity crises: view from the Provence Basin (Gulf of Lions, Western Mediterranean). Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 286, 139–157.
- Barusseau, J.P., Akouango, E., Ba, M., Descamps, C., Golf, A., 1996. Evidence for short term retreat of the barrier shorelines. Quat. Sci. Rev. 15, 763–771.
- Becker, R.H., Sultan, M., 2009. Land subsidence in the Nile Delta: inferences from radar interferometry. The Holocene 19, 949–954.
- Bellotti, P., Calderoni, G., Carboni, M.G., Di Bella, L., Tortora, P., Valeri, P., Zernitskaya, V., 2007. Late Quaternary landscape evolution of the Tiber River delta plain (Central Italy): new evidence from pollen data, biostratigraphy and 14C dating. Z. Geomorphol. 51 (4), 505–534.
- Bellotti, P., Calderoni, G., Di Rita, F., D'Orefice, M., D'Amico, C., Esu, D., Magri, D., Preite, Martinez, M., Tortora, P., Valeri, P., 2011. The Tiber river delta plain (central Italy): coastal evolution and implications for the ancient Ostia Roman settlement. The Holocene 21, 1105–1116.
- Berger, J.F., Guilaine, J., 2009. The 8200 cal BP abrupt environmental change and the Neolithic transition: a Mediterranean perspective. Quat. Int. 200, 31–49.
- Bernhardt, C.E., Horton, B.P., Stanley, D.J., 2012. Nile Delta vegetation response to Holocene climate variability. Geology 40, 615–618.
- Bertoncello, F., 2010. Dynamique du paysage et centuriation dans le territoire de Forum Iulii, Fréjus (Var, France). In: Dall'Aglio, P.-L., Rosada, G. (Eds.), Sistemi centuriali e opere di assetto agrario tra età romana e primo medioevo, Atti del convegno Borgoricco (Padova), Lugo (Ravenna), II. Agri Centuriati 7, pp. 75–91.
- Bicket, A.R., Rendell, H.M., Claridge, A., Rose, P., Andrews, J., Brown, F.S.J., 2009. A multiscale geoarchaeological approach from the Laurentine shore (Castelporziano, Lazio, Italy). Géomorphologie 4, 241–256.
- Bini, M., Brückner, H., Chelli, A., Pappalardo, M., Da Prato, S., Gervasini, 2012. Palaeogeographies of the Magra Valley coastal plain to constrain the location of the Roman harbour of Luna (NW Italy). Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 337–338, 37–51.
- Bintliff, J., 2002. Time, process and catastrophism in the study of Mediterranean alluvial history: a review. World Archaeol. 33, 417–435.
- Bony, G., Morhange, C., Bruneton, H., Carbonel, P., Gébara, C., 2011. Silting-up of the Frejus ancient harbour (Forum Julii, France) during the past 2000 years: a two-phase model of palaeoenvironmental change. Compt. Rendus Geosci. 343, 701–715.
- Bravard, J.P., 2002. The adjustments of fluvial systems to the decrease in water and sediment fluxes following mountain reafforestation. La Houille Blanche Rev. Int. de l'Eau 3, 68–71.
- Brisset, E., Miramont, C., Guiter, F., Anthony, E.J., Tachikawa, K., Poulenard, J., Arnaud, F., Delhon, C., Meunier, J.D., Bard, E., Suméra, F., 2013. Non-reversible geosystem destabilisation at 4200 cal. BP: sedimentological, geochemical and botanical markers of soil erosion recorded in a Mediterranean alpine lake. The Holocene 23, 1863–1874.
- Brooks, N., 2006. Cultural responses to aridity in the Middle Holocene and increased social complexity. Quat. Int. 151, 29–49.
- Brückner, H., 1997. Coastal changes in western Turkey; rapid progradation in historical times. In: Briand, F., Maldonado, A. (Eds.), Transformations and Evolution of the Mediterranean Coastline. Bulletin de l'Institut Océanographique, Monaco vol. 18, pp. 63–74.
- Brückner, H., Müllenhoff, M., Handl, M., van der Borg, K., 2002. Holocene landscape evolution of the Büyük Menderes alluvial plain in the environs of Myous and Priene (Western Anatolia Turkey). Z. Geomorphol. Suppl.bd 127, 47–65.
- Brückner, H., Kelterbaum, D., Marunchak, O., Porotov, A., Vött, A., 2010. The Holocene sea level story since 7500 BP–lessons from the Eastern Mediterranean, the Black and the Azov Seas. Quat. Int. 225, 160–179.
- Brunel, C., Sabatier, F., 2009. Potential influence of sea-level rise in controlling shoreline position on the French Mediterranean coast. Geomorphology 107, 47–57.
- Brunel, C., Certain, R., Sabatier, F., Robin, N., Barusseau, J.P., Aleman, N., Raynal, O., 2014. 20th century sediment budget trends on the Western Gulf of Lions shoreface (France): an application of an integrated method for the study of sediment coastal reservoirs. Geomorphology 204, 625–637.

- Bruneton, H., Arnaud-Fassetta, G., Provansal, M., Sistach, D., 2001. Geomorphological evidence for fluvial change during the Roman period in the lower Rhone valley, southern France. Catena 45, 287–312.
- Büntgen, U., Tegel, W., Nicolussi, K., McCormick, M., Frank, D., Trouet, V., Kaplan, J.O., Herzig, F., Heussner, K.-U., Wanner, H., Luterbacher, J., Esper, J., 2011. 2500 years of European climate variability and human susceptibility. Science 331, 578–582.
- Butzer, K.W., 1976. Early Hydraulic Civilization in Egypt: A Study in Cultural Ecology. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Butzer, K.W., 2005. Environmental history in the Mediterranean world: cross-disciplinary investigation of cause-and-effect for degradation and soil erosion. J. Archaeol. Sci. 32, 1773–1800.
- Carmona, P., Ruiz, J.M., 2011. Historical morphogenesis of the Turia River coastal flood plain in the Mediterranean littoral of Spain. Catena 86, 139–149.
- Casana, J., 2008. Mediterranean valleys revisited: linking soil erosion, land use and climate variability in the Northern Levant. Geomorphology 101, 429–442.
- Cavazza, W., Wezel, F.C., 2003. The Mediterranean region—a geological primer. Episodes 26, 160–168.
- Churchill Semple, E., 1932. The Geography of the Mediterranean Region: Its Relation to Ancient History. Constable, London (737 pp.).
- Ciavola, P., Mantovani, F., Simeoni, U., Tessari, U., 1999. Relation between river dynamics and coastal changes in Albania: an assessment integrating satellite imagery with historical data. Int. J. Remote Sens. 20, 561–584.
- Clauzon, G., Suc, J.P., Gautier, F., Berger, A., Loutre, M.F., 1996. Alternate interpretation of the Messinian salinity crisis: controversy resolved? Geology 24, 363–366.
- Coleman, M., Huh, O.K., 2004. Major Deltas of the World: A Perspective from Space. Coastal Studies Institute, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA (www.geol.lsu. edu/WDD/PUBLICATIONS/C&Hnasa04/C&Hfinal04.htm).
- Cuvier, G., 1818. Essay on the Theory of the Earth. Kirk & Mercein, New York.
- Dedkov, A.P., Mozzherin, V.I., 1992. Erosion and sediment yield in mountain regions of the world. In: Walling, D.E., Davies, T.R., Harsholt, B. (Eds.), Erosion, Debris Flows and Environment in Mountain Regions. (Proceedings of the Chengdu Symposium, July 1992). IAHS Publication 209, pp. 29–36.
- Delano-Smith, C., 1979. Western Mediterranean Europe. A historical Geography of Italy, Spain and Southern France since the Neolithic. Academic Press, London (453 pp.).
- Desjardins, E., 1876. Géographie historique et administrative de la Gaule romaine, Introduction et géographie physique comparée. Époque romaine-époque actuelle, t.1. Hachette, Paris (475 pp.).
- Devillers, B., 2008. Holocene Morphogenesis and Anthropisation of a Semi-Arid Watershed, Gialias River, Cyprus. British Archaeological Reports. Archaeopress, Oxford.
- Devillers, B., Excoffon, P., Morhange, C., Bonnet, S., Bertoncello, F., 2007. Relative sea-level changes and coastal evolution at Forum Julii (Frejus, Provence). Compt. Rendus Geosci. 339, 329–336.
- Dezileau, L., Sabatier, P., Blanchemanche, P., Joly, B., Swingedouw, D., Cassou, C., Castaings, J., Martinez, P., Von Grafenstein, U., 2011. Intense storm activity during the Little Ice Age on the French Mediterranean coast. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 299, 289–297.
- Di Pippo, T., Donadio, C., Pennetta, M., Petrosino, C., Terlizzi, F., Valente, A., 2008. Coastal hazard assessment and mapping in Northern Campania, Italy. Geomorphology 97, 451–466.
- Djamali, M., Gambin, B., Marriner, N., Andrieu-Ponel, V., Gambin, T., Gandouin, E., Lanfranco, S., Médail, F., Pavon, D., Ponel, P., Morhange, C., 2012. Vegetation dynamics during the early to mid-Holocene transition in NW Malta, human impact versus climatic forcing. Veg. Hist. Archaeobot. 22, 367–380.
- Dubar, M., Anthony, E.J., 1995. Holocene environmental change and river-mouth sedimentation in the Baie des Anges, French Riviera. Quat. Res. 43, 329–343.
- Dusar, B., Verstraeten, G., Notebaert, B., Bakker, J., 2011. Holocene environmental change and its impact on sediment dynamics in the Eastern Mediterranean. Earth Sci. Rev. 108, 137–157.
- Dvorak, J.J., Mastrolorenzo, 1991. The mechanisms of recent crustal movements in Campo Flegrei caldera, southern Italy. Spec. Pap. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 263, 1–47.
- Ebraheem, A.M., Senosy, M.M., Dahab, K.A., 1997. Geoelectrical and hydrogeochemical studies for delineating ground-water contamination due to salt-water intrusion in the northern part of the Nile Dela, Egypt. Ground Water 35, 216–222.
- Ekercin, S., 2007. Coastline change assessment at the Aegean sea coasts in Turkey using multitemporal Landsat imagery. J. Coast. Res. 23, 691–698.
- El Banna, M., Frihy, O.E., 2009. Human-induced changes in the geomorphology of the northeastern coast of the Nile delta, Egypt. Geomorphology 107, 72–78.
- El Mrini, A., Anthony, E.J., Maanan, M., Taaouati, M., Nachite, D., 2012. Beach-dune degradation in a Mediterranean context of strong development pressures, and the missing integrated management perspective. Ocean Coast. Manag. 69, 299–306.
- Emery, K.O., Aubrey, D.G., Goldsmith, V., 1988. Coastal neo-tectonics of the Mediterranean from tide-gauge records. Mar. Geol. 81, 41–52.
- Ericson, J.P., Vörösmarty, C.J., Dingman, S.L., Ward, L.G., Meybeck, M., 2006. Effective sealevel rise and deltas: causes of change and human dimension implications. Glob. Planet. Chang. 50, 63–82.
- Fabbri, P., 1985. Coastline variations in the Po delta since 2500 BP. Z. Geomorphol. 57, 155–167.
- Fanget, A.S., Bassetti, M.A., Arnaud, M., Chiffoleau, J.F., Cossa, D., Goineau, A., Fontanier, C., Buscail, R., Jouet, G., Maillet, G.M., Negri, A., Dennielou, B., Berné, S., 2012. Historical evolution and extreme climate events during the last 400 years on the Rhone prodelta (NW Mediterranean). Mar. Geol. 346, 375–391.
- Faust, D., Zielhofer, C., Escudero, R.B., Diaz del Olmo, F., 2004. High-resolution fluvial record of late Holocene geomorphic change in northern Tunisia: climatic or human impact? Quat. Sci. Rev. 23, 1757–1775.

- Ferranti, L., Antonioli, F., Mauz, B., Amorosi, A., Dai Pra, G., Mastronuzzi, G., Monaco, C., Orrù, P., Pappalardo, M., Radtke, U., Renda, P., Romano, P., Sanso, P., Verrubbi, V., 2006. Markers of the last interglacial sea-level high stand along the coast of Italy: tectonic implications. Quat. Int. 145–146, 30–54.
- Firth, C., Stewart, I., McGuire, W.J., Kershaw, S., Vita-Finzi, C., 1996. Coastal elevation changes in eastern Sicily; implications for volcano instability. In: McGuire, W.J., Jones, A.P., Neuberg, J. (Eds.), Volcano Instability on the Earth and Other Planets. Geological Society, London, Special Publication 110, pp. 153–167.
- Flaux, C., 2012. Holocene palaeo-environments of the Maryut lagoon in the NW Nile delta, EgyptPh.D. thesis Université Aix-Marseille, Aix-en-Provence (340 pp.).
- Flemming, N.C., 1993. Predictions of relative coastal sea-level change in the Mediterranean based on archaeological, historical and tide-gauge data. In: Jeftic, L., Milliman, J.D., Sestini, G. (Eds.), Climate Change and the Mediterranean. Edward Arnold, London, pp. 247–281.
- Fletcher, W.J., Zielhofer, C., 2013. Fragility of Western Mediterranean landscapes during Holocene rapid climate changes. Catena 103, 16–29.
- Foley, S.F., Gronenborn, D., Andreae, M.O., Kadereit, J.W., Esper, J., Scholz, D., Pöschl, U., Jacob, D.E., Schöne, B.R., Schreg, R., Vött, A., Jordan, D., Lelieveld, J., Weller, C.G., Alt, K.W., Gaudzinski-Windheuser, S., Bruhn, K.-C., Tost, H., Sirocko, F., Crutzen, P.J., 2013. The Palaeoanthropocene—the beginnings of anthropogenic environmental change. Anthropocene 3, 83–88.
- Fouache, E., Vella, C., Dimo, L., Gruda, G., Mugnier, J.L., Denèfle, M., Monnier, O., Hotyat, M., Huth, E., 2010. Shoreline reconstruction since the Middle Holocene in the vicinity of the ancient city of Apollonia (Albania, Seman and Vjosa deltas). Quat. Int. 216, 118–128.
- Frihy, O.E., Khafagy, A.A., 1991. Climatic and human induced changes in relation to shoreline migration trends in the Nile delta promontories. Catena 18, 197–211.
- Frihy, O.E., Lawrence, D., 2004. Evolution of the modern Nile delta promontories: development of accretional features during shoreline retreat. Environ. Geol. 46, 914–993.
- Frihy, O.E., Debes, E.A., El Sayed, W.R., 2003. Processes reshaping the Nile delta promontories of Egypt: pre- and post-protection. Geomorphology 53, 263–279.
- Gambin, T., 2004. Islands of the Middle Sea: an archaeology of a coastline. In: De Maria, L., Turchetti, R. (Eds.), Evolución paleoambiental de los puertos y fondeaderos antiguos en el Mediterráneo occidental. Rubbettino Editore, Soveria Mannelli, pp. 127–146.
- Gambin, T., 2005. The maritime landscapes of Malta from the Roman period to the Middle AgesPhD thesis University of Bristol.
- Gasse, F., Roberts, C.N., 2004. Late Quaternary hydrologic changes in the arid and semiarid belt of Northern Africa. In: Diaz, H.F., Bradley, R.S. (Eds.), The Hadley Circulation: Present, Past and Future. Kluwer Publishing House Academic Publishers, London, pp. 313–345.
- Gébara, C., Morhange, C., 2010. Fréjus (Forum Julii): the ancient Harbour. J. Roman Archaeol. Suppl. Ser. 77, 152.
- Ghilardi, M., Fouache, E., Queyrel, F., Syrides, G., Vouvalidis, K., Kunesch, S., Styllas, M., Stiros, S., 2008. Human occupation and geomorphological evolution of the Thessaloniki Plain (Greece) since mid Holocene. J. Archaeol. Sci. 35, 111–125.
- Ghilardi, M., Psomiadis, D., Pavlopoulos, K., Müller Çelka, S., Fachard, S., Theurillat, T., Verdan, S., Knodell, A.R., Theodoropoulou, T., Bicket, A., Bonneau, A., Delanghe-Sabatier, D., 2014. Mid- to Late Holocene shoreline reconstruction and human occupation in Ancient Eretria (South Central Euboea, Greece). Geomorphology 208, 225–237.
- Giorgi, F., 2006. Climate change hot-spots. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33, L08707. http://dx.doi. org/10.1029/2006GL025734.
- Goiran, J.P., 2001. Recherches géomorphologiques dans la region littorale d'Alexandrie, EgyptePhD thesis Université de Provence, Aix-en-Provence.
- Goiran, J.P., Tronchère, H., Salomon, F., Carbonel, P., Djerbi, H., Ognard, C., 2010. Palaeoenvironmental reconstruction of the ancient harbors of Rome: Claudius and Trajan's marine harbors on the Tiber delta. Quat. Int. 216, 3–13.
- Goiran, J.P., Pavlopoulos, K.P., Fouache, E., Triantaphyllou, M., Etienne, R., 2011. Piraeus, the ancient island of Athens: evidence from Holocene sediments and historical archives. Geology 39, 531–534.
- Goiran, J.-P., Salomon, F., Mazzini, I., Bravard, J.-P., Pleuger, E., Vittori, C., Boetto, G., Christiansen, J., Arnaud, P., Pellegrino, A., Pepe, C., Sadori, L., 2014. Geoarchaeology confirms location of the ancient harbour basin of Ostia (Italy). J. Archaeol. Sci. 41, 389–398.
- Goodman, B.N., Reinhardt, E.G., Dey, H.W., Boyce, J.I., Schwarcz, H.P., Sahoğlu, V., Erkanal, H., Artzy, M., 2009. Multi-proxy geoarchaeological study redefines understanding of the paleocoastlines and ancient harbours of Liman Tepe (Iskele, Turkey). Terra Nova 21, 97–104.
- Goy, J.L., Zazo, C., Dabrio, C.J., 2003. A beach-ridge progradation complex reflecting periodical sea-level and climate variability during the Holocene (Gulf of Almería, Western Mediterranean). Geomorphology 50, 251–268.
- Grove, A.T., Rackman, O., 2001. The Nature of Mediterranean Europe: An Ecological History, Yale University Press, London.
- Guilaine, J., 1991. Pour une archéologie agraire. Armand Colin.
- Guillén, J., Palanques, A., 1997. A historical perspective of the morphological evolution in the lower Ebro river. Environ. Geol. 30, 174–180.
- Halouani, N., Gueddari, M., Frihy, O., 2013. The northwestern Mediterranean coast of Tunisia: wave processes, shoreline stability and management implications. Arab. J. Sci. Eng. 38, 1851–1860.
- Hereher, M.E., 2010. Vulnerability of the Nile Delta to sea level rise: an assessment using remote sensing. Geomatics Nat. Hazards Risk 1, 315–321.
- Hereher, M.E., 2011. Mapping coastal erosion at the Nile Delta western promontory using Landsat imagery. Environ. Earth Sci. 64, 1117–1125.
- Hinderer, M., 2012. From gullies to mountains belts: a review of sediments budgets at various scales. Sediment. Geol. 280, 21–59.

Hoffmann, T., Thorndycraft, V.R., Brown, A.G., Coulthard, T.J., Damnati, B., Kale, V.S., Middelkoop, H., Notebaert, B., Walling, D.E., 2010. Human impact on fluvial regimes and sediment flux during the Holocene: review and future research agenda. Glob. Planet. Chang. 72, 87–98.

- Hohensinner, S., Herrnegger, M., Blaschke, A.P., Habereder, C., Haidvogl, G., Hein, T., Jungwirth, M., Weiss, M., 2008. Type-specific reference conditions of fluvial landscapes: a search in the past by 3D-reconstruction. Catena 75, 200–215.
- Hooke, J.M., 2006. Human impacts on fluvial systems in the Mediterranean region. Geomorphology 79, 311–335.
- Horden, P., Purcell, N., 2000. The Corrupting Sea: A Study of Mediterranean History. Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.
- Ibáñez, C., Day, J.W., Reyes, E., 2014. The response of deltas to sea-level rise: natural mechanisms and management options to adapt to high-end scenarios. Ecol. Eng. 65, 122–130.
- Innocenti, L., Pranzini, E., 1993. Geomorphological evolution and sedimentology of the Ombrone River delta (Italy). J. Coast. Res. 9, 481–493.
- Jabaloy-Sánchez, A., Lobo, F.J., Azor, A., Bárcenas, P., Fernández-Salas, L.M., Díaz del Río, V., Pérez-Peña, J.V., 2010. Human-driven coastline changes in the Adra River deltaic system, southeast Spain. Geomorphology 119, 9–22.
- Jimenez, J.A., Sanchez-Archilla, A., Valdemoro, H.I., Garcia, V., Nieto, F., 1997. Processes reshaping the Ebro delta. Mar. Geol. 144, 59–79.
- Jiménez, J.A., Sancho-García, A., Bosom, E., Valdemoro, H.I., Guillén, J., 2012. Storminduced damages along the Catalan coast (NW Mediterranean) during the period 1958–2008. Geomorphology 143–144, 23–34.
- Julian, M., Anthony, E.J., 1996. Aspects of landslide activity in the Mercantour Massif and the French Riviera, southeastern France. Geomorphology 15, 275–289.
- Kaniewski, D., Van Campo, E., Morhange, C., Guiot, J., Zviely, D., Shaked, I., Otto, T., Artzy, M., 2013. Early urban impact on Mediterranean coastal environments. Sci. Rep. 3, 3540.
- Kaplan, J.O., Krumhardt, K.M., Zimmermann, N., 2009. The prehistoric and preindustrial deforestation of Europe. Quat. Sci. Rev. 28, 3016–3034.
- Kayan, I., 1999. Holocene stratigraphy and geomorphological evolution of the Aegean coastal plains of Anatolia. Quat. Sci. Rev. 18, 541–548.
- Kraft, J.C., Brückner, H., Kayan, I., Engelmann, H., 2006. The geographies of ancient Ephesus and the Artemision in Anatolia. Geoarchaeology 22, 121–149.
- Kuleli, T., 2010. Quantitative analysis of shoreline changes at the Mediterranean Coast in Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess. 167, 387–397.
- Kuper, R., Kröpelin, S., 2006. Climate-controlled Holocene occupation of the Sahara: motor of Africa's evolution. Science 313, 803–807.
- Laskar, J., Robutel, P., Joutel, F., Gastineau, M., Correia, A.C.M., Levrard, B., 2004. A longterm numerical solution for the insolation quantities of the Earth. Astron. Astrophys. 428, 261–285.
- Lehner, B., Reidy Liermann, C., Revenga, C., Vörösmarty, C., Fekete, B., Crouzet, P., Döll, P., Endejan, M., Frenken, K., Magome, J., Nilsson, C., Robertson, J., Rödel, R., Sindorf, N., Wisser, D., 2011. High-resolution mapping of the world's reservoirs and dams for sustainable river-flow management. Front. Ecol. Environ. 9, 494–502.
- Lespez, L., 2007. Holocene fluvial system changes in northern Greece: a multiscalar approach of interactions between nature and society. Géomorphologie: Relief, Processus et Environnement 1, 49–65.
- Lichter, M., Zviely, D., Klein, M., 2010. Morphological patterns of southeastern Mediterranean river mouths: the topographic setting of the beach as a forcing factor. Geomorphology 123, 1–12.
- Lionello, P., Bhend, J., Buzzi, A., Della-Marta, P.M., Krichak, S., Jansa, A., Maheras, P., Sanna, A., Trigo, I.F., Trigo, R., 2006. Cyclones in the Mediterranean region: climatology and effects on the environment. In: Lionello, P., Malanotte-Rizzoli, P., Boscolo, R. (Eds.), Mediterranean Climate Variability. Elsevier, Netherlands, pp. 324–372.
- Liquete, C., Arnau, P., Lafuerza, S., Canals, M., 2005. Mediterranean river systems of Andalusia, southern Spain, and associated deltas: a source to sink approach. Mar. Geol. 223–223, 471–495.
- Liquete, C., Canals, M., Ludwig, W., Arnau, P., 2009. Sediment discharge of the rivers of Catalonia, NE Spain, and the influence of human impacts. J. Hydrol. 366, 76–88.
- Magny, M., Vannière, B., Calo, C., Millet, L., Leroux, A., Peyron, O., Zanchetta, G., La Mantia, T., Tinner, W., 2011. Holocene hydrological changes in south-western Mediterranean as recorded by lake-level fluctuations at Lago Preola, a coastal lake in southern Sicily, Italy. Quat. Sci. Rev. 30, 2459–2475.
- Magny, M., Combourieu-Nebout, N., de Beaulieu, J.L., Bout-Roumazeilles, V., Colombaroli, D., Desprat, S., Francke, A., Joannin, S., Ortu, E., Peyron, O., Revel, M., Sadori, L., Siani, G., Sicre, M.A., Samartin, S., Simonneau, A., Tin- ner, W., Vannière, B., Wagner, B., Zanchetta, G., Anselmetti, F., Brugiapaglia, E., Chapron, E., Debret, M., Desmet, M., Didier, J., Essal- lami, L., Galop, D., Gilli, A., Haas, J.N., Kallel, N., Millet, L., Stock, A., Turon, J.L, Wirth, S., 2013. North-south palaeohydrological contrasts in the central Mediterranean during the Holocene: tentative synthesis and working hypotheses. Clim. Past 9, 2043–2071.
- Marchetti, M., 2002. Environmental changes in the central Po Plain (northern Italy) due to fluvial modifications and anthropogenic activities. Geomorphology 44, 361–373.
- Marcus, E., 2002. Early seafaring and maritime activity in the southern Levant from prehistory through the third millennium BCE. In: Van den Brink, E.C.M., Levy, T.E. (Eds.), Egypt and the Levant: Interrelations from the 4th through early 3rd millennium BCENew Studies in Anthropological Archaeology. Leicester University Press, Continuum International Publishing Group. UK, pp. 403–417.
- Continuum International Publishing Group, UK, pp. 403–417.
 Marriner, N., Morhange, C., 2006. The 'Ancient Harbour Parasequence': anthropogenic forcing of the stratigraphic highstand record. Sediment. Geol. 186, 13–17.
- Marriner, N., Morhange, C., 2007. Geoscience of ancient Mediterranean harbours. Earth Sci. Rev. 80, 137–194.
- Marriner, N., Morhange, C., Carayon, N., 2008a. Ancient Tyre and its harbours: 5000 years of human–environment interactions. J. Archaeol. Sci. 5, 1281–1310.

- Marriner, N., Morhange, C., Goiran, J.-P., 2008b. Alexander the Great's tombolo at Tyre and Alexandria, eastern Mediterranean. Geomorphology 100, 377–400.
- Marriner, N., Goiran, J.-P., Geyer, B., Matoïan, V., al-Maqdissi, M., Leconte, M., Carbonel, P., 2012a. Ancient harbours and Holocene morphogenesis of the Ras Ibn Hani peninsula (Syria). Quat. Res. 78, 35–49.
- Marriner, N., Gambin, T., Djamali, M., Morhange, C., Spiteri, M., 2012b. Geoarchaeology of the Burmarrad ria and early Holocene human impacts in western Malta. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 339–341, 52–65.
- Marriner, N., Flaux, C., Kaniewski, D., Morhange, C., Leduc, G., Moron, V., Chen, Z., Gasse, F., Empereur, J.-Y., Stanley, J.-D., 2012c. ITCZ and ENSO-like pacing of Nile delta hydrogeomorphology during the Holocene. Quat. Sci. Rev. 45, 73–84.
- Marriner, N., Flaux, C., Morhange, C., Kaniewski, D., 2012d. The Nile delta's sinking past: quantifiable links with Holocene compaction and climate-driven changes in sediment supply? Geology 40, 1083–1086.
- Marriner, N., Flaux, C., Morhange, C., Stanley, J.-D., 2013. Tracking Nile Delta vulnerability to Holocene change. PLoS ONE 8, e69195.
- Marriner, N., Morhange, C., Kaniewski, D., Carayon, N., 2014. Ancient harbour infrastructure in the Levant: tracking the birth and rise of new forms of anthropogenic pressure. Sci. Rep. 4 (5554), 1–11.
- Marsh, G.P., 1864. Man and Nature: Or, Physical Geography as Modified by Human Action. Charles Schribner, New York.
- Maselli, V., Trincardi, F., 2013. Man made deltas. Sci. Rep. 3, 1926.
- Masselink, G., Gehrels, R. (Eds.), 2014. Coastal Environments and Global Change. John Wiley & Sons Ltd. (448 pp.).
- Millet, B., Goiran, J.P., 2007. Impacts of Alexandria's Heptastadion on coastal hydrosedimentary dynamics during the Hellenistic period: a numerical modelling approach. Int. J. Naut. Archaeol. 36, 167–176.
- Milliman, J.D., Farnsworth, K.L., 2011. River Discharge to the Coastal Ocean. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Morhange, C., Blanc, F., Bourcier, M., Carbonel, P., Prone, A., Schmitt-Mercury, S., Vivent, D., Hesnard, A., 2003. Bio-sedimentology of the late Holocene deposits of the ancient harbor of Marseilles (southern France Mediterranean sea). The Holocene 13, 593–604.
- Morhange, C., Hamdan Taha, M., Humbert, J.B., Marriner, N., 2005. Human settlement and coastal change in Gaza since the Bronze Age. Méditerranée 104, 75–78.
- Morhange, C., Marriner, N., Laborel, L., Todesco, M., Oberlin, C., 2006. Rapid sea-level movements and non-eruptive crustal deformations in the Phlegrean Fields caldera, Italy. Geology 34, 93–96.
- Nicholls, R.J., Wong, P.P., Burkett, V.R., Codignotto, J.O., Hay, J.E., McLean, R.F., Ragoonaden, S., Woodroffe, C.D., 2007. Coastal systems and low-lying areas. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In: Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., Hanson, C.E. (Eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 315–356.
- Palanques, A., Guillén, J., 1998. Coastal changes in the Ebro delta: natural and human factors. J. Coast. Conserv. 4, 17–26.
- Palanques, A., Plana, F., Maldonado, A., 1990. Recent influence of man on the Ebro margin sedimentation system, northwestern Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Geol. 95, 247–263.
- Pavlopoulos, K., Kapsimalis, V., Theodorakopoulou, K., Panagiotopoulos, I.P., 2012. Vertical displacement trends in the Aegean coastal zone (NE Mediterranean) during the Holocene assessed by geo-archaeological data. The Holocene 22, 717–728.
- Pichard, G., Roucaute, E., 2014. Pluies et crues en bas Rhône et caractérisation du Petit Age Glaciaire (PAG). Méditerranée 122, 31–42.
- Pirazzoli, P.A., 2005. A review of possible eustatic, isostatic and tectonic contributions in eight late-Holocene relative sea-level histories from the Mediterranean area. Quat. Sci. Rev. 24, 1989–2001.
- Pirazzoli, P., Laborel, J., Stiros, S.C., 1996. Coastal indicators of rapid uplift and subsidence: examples from Crete and other Eastern Mediterranean sites. Z. Geomorphol. Suppl. 102, 21–35.
- Poulos, S.E., Collins, M.B., 2002. Fluviatile sediment fluxes to the Mediterranean Sea: a quantitative approach and the influence of dams. In: Jones, S.J., Frostick, L.E. (Eds.), Sediment Flux to Basins: Causes, Controls and Consequences. Special Publications Geological Society, London 191, pp. 227–245.
- Pranzini, E., 1989. A model for cuspate delta erosion. Proceedings of the 6th Symposium on Coastal and Ocean Management. ASCE, Charleston, SC, pp. 4345–4357.
- Pranzini, E., 2001. Updrift river mouth migration on cuspate deltas: two examples from the coast of Tuscany, Italy. Geomorphology 38, 125–132.
- Pranzini, E., 2007. Airborne LIDAR survey applied to the analysis of the historical evolution of the Arno River delta (Italy). J. Coast. Res. Spec. Issue 50.Pranzini, E., 2013. Italy. In: Pranzini, E., Williams, A.T. (Eds.), Coastal Erosion and
- PTAIIZIIII, E., 2013. Italy. In: PTAIZIII, E., WIIIIAMS, A.T. (Eds.), Coastal Erosion and Engineering Solutions in Europe. Routledge, Abingdon, pp. 227–253.
- Pranzini, E., Rosas, V., Jackson, N., Nordstrom, K.F., 2013. Beach changes from sediment delivered by streams to pocket beaches during a major flood. Geomorphology 199, 36–47.
- Provansal, M., Dufour, S., Sabatier, F., Anthony, E.J., Raccasi, G., Robresco, S., 2014. The geomorphic evolution and sediment balance of the lower Rhône River (southern France) over the last 130 years: hydropower dams versus other control factors. Geomorphology 219, 27–41.
- Provansal, M., Pichard, G., Anthony, E.J., 2014. Geomorphic changes in the Rhône delta during the LIA: input from the analysis of ancient maps. In: Robin, M., Maanan, M. (Eds.), Coastal Sediment Fluxes, Coastal Research Library Series. Springer (in press).
- Raban, A., 1990. Man-instigated coastal changes along the Israeli shore of the Mediterranean in ancient times. In: Bottema, S., Entjes-Nieborg, G., van Zeist, W. (Eds.), Man's Role in the Shaping of the Eastern Mediterranean Landscape. Balkema, Rotterdam, pp. 101–111.

- Raynal, O., Bouchette, F., Certain, R., Séranne, M., Dezileau, L., Sabatier, P., Lofi, J., Bui Xuan Hy, A., Briqueu, L., Pezard, P., Tessier, B., 2009. Control of alongshore-oriented sand spits on the dynamic of a wave-dominated coastal system (Holocene deposits, northern Gulf of Lions, France). Mar. Geol. 264, 242–257.
- Reinhardt, E.G., Raban, A., 1999. Destruction of Herod the Great's harbor Caesarea Maritima, Israel, geoarchaeological evidence. Geology 27, 811–814.
- Rendell, H.M., Claridge, A.J., Clarke, M.L., 2007. Late Holocene Mediterranean coastal change along the Tiber Delta and Roman occupation of the Laurentine shore, central Italy. Quat. Geochronol. 2, 83–88.
- Revel, M., Ducassou, E., Grousset, F.E., Bernasconi, S.M., Migeon, S., Revillon, S., Mascle, J., Murat, A., Zaragosi, S., Bosch, D., 2010. 100,000 Years of African monsoon variability recorded in sediments of the Nile margin. Quat. Sci. Rev. 29, 1342–1362.
- Sabatier, F., Maillet, G., Fleury, J., Provansal, M., Antonelli, C., Suanez, S., Vella, C., 2006. Sediment budget of the Rhône delta shoreface since the middle of the 19th century. Mar, Geol. 234, 143–157.
- Sabatier, P., Dezileau, L., Condomines, M., Briqueu, L., Colin, C., Bouchette, F., Le Duff, M., Blanchemanche, P., 2008. Reconstruction of paleostorm events in a coastal lagoon (Hérault, South of France). Mar. Geol. 251, 224–232.
- Sabatier, P., Dezileau, L., Colin, C., Briqueu, L., Bouchette, F., Martinez, P., Siani, G., Raynal, O., Von Grafenstein, U., 2012. 7000 years of paleostorm activity in the NW Mediterranean Sea in response to Holocene climate events. Quat. Res. 77, 1–11.
- Sarti, G., Rossi, V., Amorosi, A., De Luca, S., Lena, A., Morhange, C., Ribolini, Sammartino, I., Bertoni, D., Zanchetta, G., 2013. Magdala harbour sedimentation (Sea of Galilee, Israel), from natural to anthropogenic control. Quat. Int. 303, 120–131.
- Sedrati, M., Anthony, E.J., 2007. A brief overview of plan-shape disequilibrium in embayed beaches: Tangier Bay, Morocco, revisited. Méditerranée 108, 125–130.
- Seeliger, M., Bartz, M., Erkul, E., Feuser, S., Kelterbaum, D., Klein, C., Pirson, F., Vött, A., Brückner, H., 2013. Taken from the sea, reclaimed by the sea: the fate of the closed harbour of Elaia. Quat. Int. 312, 70–83.
- Shah-Hosseini, M., Morhange, C., De Marco, A., Wante, J., Anthony, E.J., Sabatier, F., Mastronuzzi, G., Pignatelli, C., Piscitelli, A., 2013. Coastal boulders in Martigues, French Mediterranean: evidence for extreme storm waves during the Little Ice Age. Z. Geomorphol. 57 (Suppl. 4), 181–199.
- Shaw, B., Ambraseys, N.N., England, P.C., Floyd, M.A., Gorman, G.J., Higham, T.F.G., Jackson, J.A., Nocquet, J.-M., Pain, C.C., Piggott, M.D., 2008. Eastern Mediterranean tectonics and tsunami hazard inferred from the AD 365 earthquake. Nat. Geosci. 1, 268–276.
- Sherlock, R.L., 1922. Man as a Geological Agent: An Account of His Action on Inanimate Nature. H. F. & G. Witherby.
- Simeone, S., De Falco, G., 2012. Morphology and composition of beach-cast Posidonia oceanica litter on beaches with different exposures. Geomorphology 151–152, 224–233.
- Simeoni, U., Corbau, C., 2009. A review of the Delta Po evolution (Italy) related to climatic changes and human impacts. Geomorphology 107, 64–71.
- Snoussi, M., Haïda, S., Imassi, S., 2002. Effects of the construction of dams on the water and sediment fluxes of the Moulouya and the Sebou Rivers, Morocco. Reg. Environ. Chang. 3, 5–12.
- Stanley, D.J., Bernasconi, M.P., 2006. Holocene depositional patterns and evolution in Alexandria's eastern harbor, Egypt. J. Coast. Res. 22, 283–297.
- Stanley, D.J., Corwin, K.A., 2013. Measuring strata thicknesses in cores to assess recent sediment compaction and subsidence of Egypt's Nile delta coastal margin. J. Coast. Res. 29, 657–670.
- Stanley, D.J., Warne, A.G., 1993. Nile delta: recent geological evolution and human impact. Science 260, 628–634.
- Stanley, D.J., Warne, A.G., 1994. Worldwide initiation of Holocene marine deltas by deceleration of sea-level Rise. Science 265, 228–231.
- Stanley, D.J., Warne, A.G., 1998. Nile Delta in its destruction phase. J. Coast. Res. 14, 794–825.
- Stanley, D.J., Carlson, R.W., Van Beek, G., Jorstad, T.F., Landau, E.A., 2007. Alexandria, Egypt, before Alexander the Great: a multidisciplinary approach yields rich discoveries. GSA Today 17, 4–10.
- Stefaniuk, L., Morhange, C., 2005. Evolution des paysages littoraux dans la depression sudouest de Cumes depuis 4000 ans. Méditerranée 104, 49–59.

- Stewart, I.S., Morhange, C., 2009. Coastal geomorphology and sea-level change. In: Woodward, J.C. (Ed.), The Physical Geography of the Mediterranean Basin. Oxford, University Press, Oxford, pp. 385–413.
- Stewart, I.S., Cundy, A., Kershaw, S., Firth, C., 1997. Holocene coastal uplift in the Taormina area, northeastern Sicily: implications for the southern prolongation of the Calabrian seismogenic belt. J. Geodyn. 24, 37–50.
- Stiros, S.C., 2000. Fault pattern of Nisyros Island volcano (Aegean Sea): structural and archaeological evidence. In: McGuire, W.J., Griffiths, D.R., Hancock, P.L., Stewart, I.S., Vita-Finzi, C. (Eds.), The Archaeology of Geological Catastrophes. Geological Society, London, Special Publication 171, pp. 385–397.
- Stock, F., Pint, A., Horejs, B., Ladstatter, S., Brückner, H., 2013. In search of the harbours: new evidence of Late Roman and Byzantine harbours of Ephesus. Quat. Int. 312, 57–69.
- Surian, N., Rinaldi, M., 2003. Morphological response to river engineering and management in alluvial channels in Italy. Geomorphology 50, 307–326.
- Syvitski, J.P.M., Kettner, A.J., Overeem, I., Hutton, E.W.H., Hannon, M.T., Brakenridge, G.R., Day, J., Vörösmarty, C.J., Saito, Y., Giosan, L., Nicholls, R.J., 2009. Sinking deltas due to human activities. Nat. Geosci. 2, 681–689.
- Thom, B.G., 1984. Sand barriers of eastern Australia: Gippsland—a case study. In: Thom, B.G. (Ed.), Coastal Geomorphology in Australia. Academic Press, Sydney, pp. 233–261.
- Tinner, W., van Leeuwen, J.F.N., Colombaroli, D., Vescovi, E., van der Knaap, W.O., Henne, P.D., Pasta, S., D'Angelo, S., La Mantia, T., 2009. Holocene environmental and climatic changes at Gorgo Basso, a coastal lake in southern Sicily, Italy. Quat. Sci. Rev. 28, 1498–1510.
- Uvo, C.B., Gualdi, S., Scoccimarro, E., Bellucci, A., 2009. Discharge variability in the main rivers of the Mediterranean Basin. http://www.emetsoc.org/fileadmin/ems/dokumente/ annual_meetings/2009/AW4_EMS2009-214.pdf.
- van Andel, T., 1989. Late Quaternary sea-level and archaeology. Antiquity 63, 733-745.
- Vanmaercke, M., Poesen, J., Verstraeten, G., de Vente, J., Ocakoglu, F., 2011. Sediment yield in Europe: spatial patterns and scale dependency. Geomorphology 130, 142–161.
- Vella, C., Fleury, T.J., Raccasi, G., Provansal, M., Sabatier, F., Bourcier, M., 2005. Evolution of the Rhône delta plain in the Holocene. Mar. Geol. 222–223, 235–265.
- Vericat, D., Batall, R.J., 2006. Sediment transport in a large impounded river: the lower Ebro, NE Iberian Peninsula. Geomorphology 79, 72–92.
- Véron, A., Goiran, J.-P., Morhange, C., Marriner, N., Empereur, J.Y., 2006. Pollutant lead reveals the pre-Hellenistic occupation and ancient growth of Alexandria, Egypt. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33, L06409.
- Véron, A.J., Flaux, C., Marriner, N., Poirier, A., Rigaud, S., Morhange, C., Empereur, J.-Y., 2013. A 6000-year geochemical record of human activities from Alexandria (Egypt). Quat. Sci. Rev. 81, 138–147.
- Vita-Finzi, C., 1975. Chronology and implications of Holocene alluvial history of the Mediterranean basin. Biul. Geol. (Bull. Geol.) 19, 137–147.
- Vött, A., 2007. Relative sea level changes and regional tectonic evolution of seven coastal areas in NW Greece since the mid-Holocene. Quat. Sci. Rev. 26, 894–919.
- Vött, A., Schriever, A., Handl, M., Brückner, H., 2007. Holocene palaeogeographies of the central Acheloos River delta (NW Greece) in the vicinity of the ancient seaport Oiniadai. Geodin. Acta 20, 241–256.
- Walsh, K., 2013. The Archaeology of Mediterranean Landscapes: Human–Environment Interaction from the Neolithic to the Roman Period. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Werner, A.D., Bakker, M., Post, V.E.A., Vandenbohede, A., Lu, C., Ataie-Ashtiani, B., Simmons, C.T., Barry, D.A., 2013. Seawater intrusion processes, investigation and management: recent advances and future challenges. Adv. Water Resour. 51, 3–26.
- Wirth, S.B., Lukas, G., Gilli, A., Anselmetti, F.S., 2013. Holocene flood frequency across the Central Alps e solar forcing and evidence for variations in North Atlantic atmospheric circulation. Quat. Sci. Rev. 80, 112–128.

Wohl, E., 2006. Human impacts to mountain streams. Geomorphology 79, 217–248.

Zviely, D., Kit, E., Rosen, B., Galili, E., Klein, M., 2009. Shoreline migration and beachnearshore sand balance over the last 200 years in Haifa Bay (SE Mediterranean). Geo-Mar. Lett. 29, 93–110.